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CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

This Annual Report (in both English and Chinese versions) is
available to any shareholder of the Company either in printed
form and on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (https://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company. In order to
protect the environment, the Company highly recommends the
shareholders to receive electronic copy of this Annual Report.
Shareholders may have the right to change their choice of
receipt of our future Corporate Communications at any time by
reasonable notice in writing to the Company's Share Registrar,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, by post or by email at is-
enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com.
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RESULTS SUMMARY

1

2019
For the year ended 31 March HK$'000
BZE3A3BLEE FEx
Revenue 242,959
WA
Gross profit 152,264
]
Earnings BITDA' 5,977
BT E K H AT 2 A
Net (loss)/profit (3,978)

(B18), a3

BITDA represents before interest expense, tax, depreciation and amortisation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is a leading
retailer of high quality home furniture mainly imported from
Europe. The Company’s shares have been first listed (the “IPO”)
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) since January 2018.

The Group has been established for over 40 years, and takes
pride in providing superior quality stylish furniture in Hong
Kong. As at 31 March 2019, the Group operated 20 points-of-
sale (“POS”) in Hong Kong, including 18 stores under several
retail lines — “Ulferts Signature”, “Ulferts”, “at ¢ home” and
‘Dormire”, and 2 department store counters. “Ulferts” is
dedicated to transforming living spaces into ideal homes, and
offers a wide variety of contemporary style furniture products
targeting middle to high income groups. “at e home”, a recently
introduced retail line, offers quality compact furniture to suit
small living spaces for modern families. “Dormire”, on the other
hand, offers mattresses, pillows, sofabeds, sofas and other
ancillary items under the Group’s self-owned brand “Ulfenbo”,
targeting the mass market. “Ulfenbo” products are also
distributed through other retail networks such as roadshows,
and wholesaling to over 200 dealers. Additionally, several online
shopping platforms maximise market coverage.

MARKET REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Year”), the Group
has experienced several market challenges. Local consumption
market sentiment has been weakening as a result of stock
market volatility following the outbreak of the Sino-US trade war.
The growth of residential property prices has even been
softening due to the rising interest rate as well as the less
optimistic outlook for the Chinese economy arising from trade
tensions. The downturns in both stock and property markets
affected the formerly positive market sentiment, which led to a
decrease in consumer spending. Meanwhile, the stagnant
residential property market has also affected the overall demand
for home furniture.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

Recently, the already competitive home furniture market has
become more sophisticated, with greater awareness of product
quality. With the organic formation of young couples and
establishment of young-and-single households, consumer
preferences have changed more rapidly. As an expression of
personal taste and considering more aesthetic elements in
consumer lifestyles, market demand shifted towards high quality,
more compact furniture with modern, chic styles.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overall Review

Due to weakening consumption market sentiment, the Group’s
total revenue inevitably decreased to HK$243.0 million (2018:
HK$258.6 million) during the Year. Revenue of the retail segment
amounted to HK$226.8 million (2018: HK$239.3 million) and
remained a key revenue contributor, accounting for 93.3%
(2018: 92.6%) of the Group’s revenue. Gross profit decreased to
HK$152.3 million (2018: HK$163.9 million). Gross profit margin
was 62.7% (2018: 63.4%).

The earnings before interest expense, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (“BITDA”) was HK$6.0 million (2018: HK$21.3
million) during the Year, while loss BITDA of HK$0.8 million was
recorded in the first half of the Year. This indicated a turnaround

at the operating level in the second half of the Year. The net loss
for the Year was narrower at HK$4.0 million (2018: net profit of
HK$8.5 million), compared to the net loss amounting to HK$7.2
million for the first half of the Year. This net loss was primarily
due to the decline in revenue, and an increase in the rental
costs and operating expenses for the new stores during the
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B BRI

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

There was no change in the capital structure during the Year.
Cash and cash equivalents of the Group as at 31 March 2019
amounted to HK$59.5 million (31 March 2018: HK$83.4 million),
which were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As at 31
March 2019, the bank borrowings of the Group decreased
significantly to HK$4.0 million (31 March 2018: HK$19.8 million),
and hence its gearing ratio (calculated on the basis of the total
borrowings over total equity) reduced to 3.6% (31 March 2018:
17.1%). The Group has available un-utilised banking facilities of
approximately HK$79.3 million. The strong liquidity position and
considerable un-utilised banking facilities enable the Group to
retain high flexibility for future development.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$126.2 million (31 March 2018:
HK$146.0 million) and HK$56.0 million (31 March 2018:
HK$56.7 million), respectively. Current ratio and quick ratio of
the Group were 2.3 (31 March 2018: 2.6) and 1.4 (31 March
2018: 1.8), respectively.

s

“Ulferts Signature” showroom [ B b # B & j& | BE 51|

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2019,
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or
“Directors”) considered that the Group had sufficient working
capital for its operations and future development plans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B ER AT

Use of Proceeds FRERERR

During the IPO in January 2018, the net proceeds from the M2018F1H 2 H X AFBERK - EHATER
listing were approximately HK$92.6 million. An analysis of the T8 %% %) /492,600,000 Jt ° 15 7K 18 )% 58
utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 March 2019 is set out & ZE2019F3A31B ZFERABADMUT :
below:

Actual use of net

Allocation of use  proceeds up to
of net proceeds 31 March 2019
PSS SRIBF 3R

REZE20199F

PRS SRIEH 3R 3A31H

Z B A% ZERA®

HK$ million HK$ million

BEET BEAT

Capital expenditure, rental deposits Fi:& [at e home | ZEJE 2 B 34.2 20.8
and overhead expenses for T HEReMEEEHER

opening of “at e home” retail stores

Strengthening the Group’s product BEAEEZEMES 24.2 13.7
portfolio

Enhancing “Ulfenbo” sales channels  3&3% [B(E & | ERIEERE MG 10.3 3.2
and brand awareness B E

Capital expenditure and rental FRZ—RIBIEGER]TEEZ 9.1 8.5
deposits for opening one more EATHEEERS
“Ulferts” retail store

Upgrading information technology RIAEABE RS 5.7 -

General working capital —REEED 9.1 9.1

Total a5t 92.6 55.3
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B BRI

BUSINESS REVIEW
Retail Business
Effective Market Segmentation

With a clear understanding of market segmentation, the Group
defines and identifies target consumer profiles in order to
develop product and marketing strategies to reach out to their
specific preferences.

“‘Ulferts”, the Group’s core retail label, is dedicated to providing
high quality, stylish and luxury furniture, enabling its customers
to create their ideal homes. To offer a wide variety of
contemporary style furniture products targeting middle to high
income groups, the Group operates “Ulferts” showrooms across
Hong Kong. During the Year, “Ulferts Signature”, a premium
line of “Ulferts”, was successfully launched to the market,
offering high-end branded furniture products and luxury
European tailor-made furniture. It targets up-market customers
seeking a superior lifestyle.

During the Year, the Group launched a new retail line, “at e
home”, offering quality, practical and compact furniture. The
new line targets the mid-range segment, and is geared towards
the needs of young couples and small families in Hong Kong.

‘Ulfenbo” products focus on mass market consumers who
demand quality and affordable mattresses, pillows and other
ancillary items to enhance their sleep experience. To facilitate
the retailing of “Ulfenbo” products, the Group operates
‘Dormire” specialty stores which are typically small-scale, and
are designed with a casual and relaxing environment, to
highlight smart living style.

Diverse Product Portfolio

The Group offers a wide variety of furniture products — ranging
from leather sofas, cabinets, dining tables and chairs, through
wardrobes, coffee tables and sideboards, to beds, which are
imported from European and Asian countries. The Group
currently carries more than 50 furniture brands in “Ulferts
Signature” and “Ulferts” showrooms, as well as “at ¢ home”
stores, including international brands such as Himolla, Gamma,
Nicolettihome, Kristalia and Domicil, with which the Group has
built long-standing relationship. “at ¢ home” particularly offers
various compact furniture products with special features and
functions to suit the small living spaces in Hong Kong, as well
as chic Danish home accessories.

The Group also offers mattresses, pillows, sofas, sofabeds,
adjustable beds, as well as other ancillary items such as
mattress protectors and mattress toppers under its self-owned
label “Ulfenbo”. The Group provides different models of
mattresses, in various sizes with varying supports, to meet
diverse customer needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER R THT

Comprehensive Retail Sales Channel

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 20 POS (31 March 2018:
16) in Hong Kong. The number of outlets in each retail line is as
follows:

Retail Line

TE

“Ulferts Signature” | Bl 1L & 4 /% |

2L EEHERE

M2019F3A31H  AEB R BB R E201H
HE2H(2018F3A31H : 161f) R TER Y
EESEBE T

Number of POS
HEZEH

“Ulferts” [ &1L & | 6
“at e home” [at e home | 3
“Dormire” and department store counters [ ZHEL | & 5 &2 & HiE 10
Total &5+ 20

“Ulferts” showrooms are strategically located in either upscale
residential areas or major shopping areas, targeting middle to
high income groups. With its solid presence in these mature
locations with resilient foot traffic, the Group enjoys substantial
visitations and a high brand reputation. During the Year, “Ulferts
Signature”, a 3-storey store with gross floor area of
approximately 21,700 square feet, was newly opened in Hung
Hom. It is the Group’s largest flagship store, and features more
luxurious lines of furniture and masterpieces with sophisticated
finishing and excellent craftsmanship. Some premium brands
including Cornelio Cappellini and Crystal Stone are available at
“Ulferts Signature”.

During the Year, a new retail line — “at ¢ home” - was
established, and its first three stores were strategically opened
in Discovery Park in Tsuen Wan, HomeSquare in Shatin and Lee
Garden Three in Causeway Bay, and have been well-received
by local residents and shoppers. During the Year, two “Dormire”
specialty stores were opened, one in Wong Tai Sin and another
in Ho Man Tin, to further strengthen its market presence.

Ulferts International Limited EX{k B & R/ &
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AT

Excellent Customers Shopping Experience

“Ulferts Signature” and “Ulferts” showrooms are spacious, with a
stylish and cozy environment, enabling the Group to display a wide
spectrum of products for customers to touch and feel the actual
furniture, its colour tones and the texture, to maximise customers’
shopping experience. The ambience, setting and placement of
furniture within the distinctive display zones have all been tailor-
designed by a dedicated visual merchandising team to impart
harmonious, home-like comfort. The salesforce is well-trained and
offers customers advice on their purchasing needs. In recognition
of its service excellence, the Group was awarded one of the
“Quarterly Service Leaders” in Furniture & Home Accessories

Category, in the 2018 Mystery Shoppers Programme organised by
the Hong Kong Retail Management Association (“HKRMA”). In
addition, a staff of the Group earned “Excellent Service Star” in the
2018 Service & Courtesy Award of the HKRMA.

Diversified Marketing Strategies

The Group believes that brand recognition is crucial for driving
long-term growth and success. To enhance brand awareness,
the Group conducted a range of marketing and promotional
campaigns spanning TV commercials, print advertisements,
outdoor advertising, social media engagements on regular
basis. It also launched promotional campaigns such as
seasonal sale, annual sale and stock clearance sale, as well as
joint promotions and reward programmes with banks and other
renowned institutions such as Asia Miles.

Wholesale Business

The Group also operates a wholesale business spanning
mattresses, pillows, sofabeds and sofas under its self-owned
label “Ulfenbo”, through over 200 dealers in Hong Kong and
Macau. Based on its long establishment and quality products,
the “Ulfenbo” brand has been recognised by the “Hong Kong
Top Brand Mark” for five consecutive years since 2014, under
the Hong Kong Top Brand Scheme organised by the Chinese
Manufacturers Association of Hong Kong and Hong Kong Brand
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEER R THT

Special Projects

Complementing its retail and wholesale business, the Group has a
special projects division, which undertakes furniture-related
projects primarily for corporate customers such as offices,
cinemas, hotels and tertiary institutions. The division provides
services ranging from planning and design, through procuring
custom-made furniture to final installation for corporate
customers, as well as consultation and liaison services with
furniture manufacturers.

PROSPECTS

The Group considers the business environment will remain
challenging in the near-term. The impact of trade tensions and local
social issues on the economy and consumer sentiment is difficult to
assess. On the other hand, with the continuous upward trend of GDP
in China, the possible continuation of low interest rate environment
and the resilient local property demand, the Group is cautiously
optimistic regarding the long-term outlook. The Group remains
committed to enhancing operational efficiencies through prudent
control of inventories and expenses, as well as honing its competitive
edge. Meanwhile, the Group continues seeking potential locations
for expanding its retail network.

In response to the changing market trends, the Group will
continue enhancing the market differentiation of its proprietary
brands through introducing innovative products, and striving to
develop various sales channels. A corner focusing on ltalian
tailor-made furniture has been established inside “Ulferts
Signature”, to seize the opportunities arising from demand for
ultra-luxury, custom-made furniture; more chic Danish furniture
and home accessories are available in “at e home”, to meet the
demand for fusing design and function in small living spaces. The
Group foresees that small apartments will be the focus of the
coming supply of residential units. With customers’ positive
feedback towards “at e home”, the Group plans to further develop
its offline and online network. With such strategic directions, the
Group can solidify its market presence by expanding in the high-
range and mid-range sectors, and maintain sustainable growth in
the long-term.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s number of employees was 137
(2018: 133). Total staff costs including Directors’ remuneration
and the other staff costs for the Year were HK$47.7 million (2018:
HK$44.3 million). Employees’ remuneration was determined in
accordance with individual's responsibility, competence and
skills, experience and performance as well as market pay level.
Staff benefits include medical and life insurance, provident funds
and other competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentives or rewards to the staff, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which will be set
out in the section headed “Share Options” on page 19 of this
annual report.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENERBEEASZER

Executive Director (Chairman)

WONG CHI FAI, aged 63, an Executive Director of the Company
and Chairman of the Board. Mr. Wong has been involved in the
management of the Group since 1992. He is responsible for
overseeing the financial management and advising on the
business strategic planning and development of our Group. He
is the Chairman of the Executive Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company as well as a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is currently a
director of four listed companies in Hong Kong, namely Emperor
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 163) (“Emperor
International”), Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (Stock
Code: 296) (“Emperor E Hotel”), Emperor Watch & Jewellery
Limited (Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J") and Emperor
Culture Group Limited (Stock Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”), all
being associated corporations of the Company. Having over 30
years of finance and management experience, Mr. Wong has
diversified experiences in different businesses ranging from
wholesaling and retailing of furniture to manufacturing, property
investment and development, hotel and hospitality, retailing of
watch and jewellery, financial and securities services, cinema
development and operation, artiste management to
entertainment production and investment as well as media and
publication. Mr. Wong is a Certified Public Accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

NG KOON KEUNG, RICKY, aged 50, an Executive Director of
the Company and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr.
Ng joined the Group in January 2014 and is responsible for the
overall management of the Group and planning the Group’s
business and strategies. He is a member of the Executive
Committee as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Ng has over 25 years’ experience in retail,
product planning, operations, marketing and business
development and was employed by well-known retail brands in
telecommunication and consumables goods and luxury
accessories in Hong Kong. He joined TSL Jewellery (H.K.) Co.
Ltd. in August 2009 as general manager (Hong Kong, Macau
and Malaysia) and was Director of Sales and Business
Development (HK and Overseas) when he left in January 2014.
He was Assistant Vice President, Channel Marketing at PCCW
Limited from October 2006 to March 2009. Mr. Ng holds a
Bachelor of Business Administration awarded by Hong Kong
Baptist College (now Hong Kong Baptist University). He also
holds a Degree of Master of Management in Marketing
Management and a Degree of Master of Business Administration
awarded by Macquaire University, Sydney, Australia.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENERBEEASZER

Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer

MOK FUNG LIN, IVY, aged 54, an Executive Director of the
Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group. Ms. Mok
joined the Group in July 2011 and is responsible for the
business operational management and policy implementation in
the Group. She is the Company Secretary of the Company and a
member of the Executive Committee as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Before joining our Group,
Ms. Mok was a director of Emperor International and Emperor E
Hotel from February 2000 to July 2011 and has accrued over 16
years’ experience in corporate management and possesses
experience in businesses including property investment and
development, retailing, wholesaling, marketing and trading. Ms.
Mok was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom, and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree awarded by
The University of Hong Kong. She also holds a Degree of Master
of Business Administration awarded by The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology.

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA (Former Name: Fan Man Seung),
aged 56, an Executive Director of the Company. Ms. Fan has
been involved in the management of the Group since July 1992.
She is responsible for overseeing the overall corporate
management and advising on the business strategy of the
Group. She is the Chairperson of the Corporate Governance
Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Executive Committee of the Company as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Fan is currently a
director of Emperor International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor
W&J and Emperor Culture. Having over 30 years of corporate
management experience, Ms. Fan possesses diversified
experience in different businesses ranging from wholesaling and
retailing of furniture, property investment and development,
hotel and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial
and securities services, cinema development and operation,
artiste management to entertainment production and investment
as well as media and publication. Ms. Fan is a lawyer by
profession in Hong Kong and a qualified accountant, and holds
a Master’s Degree in Business Administration.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENERBEEASZER

Independent Non-executive Director

CHAN YEE MAN, aged 45, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. She is the
Chairperson of the Audit Committee as well as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Chan has been practising as a Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong and has over 26 years of experience
in the accounting profession. She holds a Bachelor of
Accounting Degree awarded by The University of Hong Kong
and a Master of Corporate Finance Degree awarded by The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Chan is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Independent Non-executive Director

CHIU KIN FAI, aged 45, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of
the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company. Mr. Chiu is a partner of a solicitors firm, T.H. Koo
& Associates. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in
1998 and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree awarded by The
University of Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Director

NG HOI YUE, aged 55, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a member
of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. Ng is currently an executive director and
Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Asian Citrus Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 73) and an independent non-executive director of
Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1076), all are listed companies in Hong Kong. He was
previously an independent non-executive director of Emperor
Culture until 13 November 2018. He has been practising as a
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. Mr. Ng is
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in England.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEEHE

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 57 of this annual report.

No interim dividend (2018: HK12 cents per share, amounting to
HK$72,000,000) was paid to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders™) during the Year.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the Year and an analysis of
the likely future development of the Group’s business are set out
in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 5 to 12.
Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group are set out in the Corporate Governance Report from
pages 45 to 46 of this annual report and note 30 to the financial
statements.

There is no important event affecting the Group that had
occurred since the end of the Year up to the date of this report.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, key relationships with the Company’s key
stakeholders, as well as compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Company are
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
2018/2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEEHE

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 22 to the financial statements.

RETAINED PROFITS

Details of movements in the retained profits of the Group during
the Year are set out on page 59 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution to the Shareholders (2018: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 132
of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in note 23 to
the financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at the
end of the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Yee Man
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management as
at the date of this report are set out from pages 13 to 15 of this
annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in
note 8 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEEHE

In accordance with Article 80(1) and (3) of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy, Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue shall retire by rotation at the 2019 AGM and,
being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the
2019 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the Year and up to the date
of this annual report are set out below. They are also Directors
of the Company:

Mr. Wong Chi Fai

Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business were entered into or existed during
the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has in force the permitted indemnity provisions which are
provided for in the Company’s Articles of Association and in the
directors and officers liability insurance maintained for the
Group in respect of potential liability and costs associated with
legal proceedings that may be brought against the Directors
and the directors of the Group respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors adopted by the Company were as
follows:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEEHE

(A) Interests in the Company

None of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company.

(B) Interests in associated corporation of the Company

Name of

Name of Director associated corporation interests

EEHA

Ms. Fan Man Seung,
Vanessa

SEURE L

Emperor International
HEFRK

The interests stated above represent long position. Save as
disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors nor
chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018 to provide incentive or
rewards to participants including the Directors and eligible
employees of the Group. Particulars of the Share Option
Scheme are set out in note 23 to the financial statements. No
options were granted under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Options Scheme as stated above, at the
end of the Year and at no time during the Year was the
Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors or chief executives of the Company or their spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate.

Capacity/Nature of
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors nor their respective
close associates was interested in any business which was
considered to compete or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group as required to be
disclosed pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2019, so far as is known to any Directors or
chief executives of the Company, the persons or corporations
(other than a Director or a chief executive of the Company) who
had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336
of the SFO (“DI Register”) were as follows:

Name

pE A

Albert Yeung Investments Holdings
Limited (“AY Investments Holdings”)
BEKIREERAER AR
(M ERREER])

ISR YN Fid

STC International Limited
(“STC International”)
AY TrustZ Z5EA

Founder of the AY Trust
AY TrustZ BI37 A

Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert
(“Dr. Albert Yeung”)

BEXBEL([HBEL])
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse
(“Ms. Semon Luk”) o (B =
B et (TRt ])
Note:

These shares were held by Ulferts International Group Holdings Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of AY Investments Holdings. AY Investments
Holdings was held by STC International in trust for the AY Trust, a
discretionary trust set up by Dr. Albert Yeung. By virtue of being the
spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung as founder of the AY Trust, Ms. Semon Luk
had deemed interests in the same Shares.
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All interests stated above represent long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Directors or
chief executives of the Company were not aware of any person
or corporation (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) who had, or were deemed or taken to have, any
interests or short positions in any shares or underlying shares as
recorded in the DI Register.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract which was
significant in relation to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

During the Year, the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions with connected persons (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company:

A. Master Leasing Agreement (“MLA”)

Date: 24 May 2018
Parties: (1) The Company
(2) Emperor International
Nature: MLA sets out the framework of the terms

governing all existing and future tenancy/
licensing transaction(s) (“Tenancy
Transactions”) regarding leasing of certain
office properties or other properties
(including signage or signboard space)
from Emperor International for the period
from 24 May 2018 to 31 March 2021 with
aggregate tenancy annual caps being set
for each of the financial years ended/
ending 31 March 2019, 2020 and 2021
(“Aggregate Tenancy Annual Cap(s)”).

FHiFTEEREBOR

B XX BEEIN  N2019FE3A31H &5
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A. Master Leasing Agreement (Continued)

Announcement:

Completion:

Pursuant to the MLA, relevant members of
the Group and any member(s) of Emperor
International may from time to time enter
into any definitive leasing agreements in
relation to any Tenancy Transactions
(“Definitive Leasing Agreement(s)”). The
terms of each Definitive Leasing
Agreement shall be on normal commercial
terms or on terms which are no less
favorable available to the Group than terms
offered by independent third parties. The
terms and rental shall be subject to arm’s
length negotiation and determined based
on the condition of the properties and with
reference to the then prevailing market
rents on property(ies) comparable in
location, area and permitted use. During
the Year, the aggregate amount of the
Tenancy Transactions was HK$7,078,000.

Both the Company and Emperor
International were indirectly controlled by
the AY Trust. As such, under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, Emperor International
was a connected person of the Company
and accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the MLA constituted
continuing connected transaction of the
Company and was subject to the approval
by the independent shareholders of
Emperor International and the Board of the
Company.

27 June 2018

9 August 2018, whereupon the Aggregate
Tenancy Annual Caps had replaced all the
then annual caps previously obtained by
the Company for the Tenancy Transactions.
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B. Master Agreement on Provision of Products and Services (B) EHERERE zEHSE([AiHED
(“Master Agreement”)

(i) Date of

agreement

& B HA Amount for

(ii) Term the Year

th % F 5B KEEZEH
Name of counterparty  Scope of Products and Services provided (D/M/Y) (HK$'000)
HEopmE &8 RMUERRREHEE (BB %) (F#&m)
Albert Yeung Holdings A master agreement involving the following (i) 15/01/2018 1,168

Limited (“AY Holdings”) sales/provision of goods and services by the (i) 29/01/2018 —

BEREEERAR AR Group to AY Holdings and its associates (as 31/03/2020

([15ZKEZEER])  defined under the Listing Rules):
B IEANE B A5 XA E ¥R I H R
NAHE TREU TR &R

(a) Selling products and providing consultancy
services

$HE B an W ER HAK s AR

(b) Selling furniture coupons

HERME S

(c) Providing other type of ancillary services
and any transaction of revenue nature

PR gt B b 1B Bl B B AR A% RO 1T B U AIEE /Y

ERCEE
Both the Company and AY Holdings (the counterparty to the RArRGXKEFER(BZELET)E
agreement) were controlled by the AY Trust. As such, under R EAY TrustiZhl o Bt - IRIE ET AR
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, AY Holdings was a AIF14AT  BXNEXRERBERRAT
connected person of the Company and accordingly, the WEEA T WAEHEE NERETHR
transactions contemplated under the Master Agreement SRR BINZERERS -
constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company.
The Company had applied for and the Stock Exchange had ARABER MRS MEME R
granted a waiver on strict compliance with the ZERXGETHABEKET LETRANE
announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements HAER RN E LRI ERTE

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for such
transactions at the time of listing.

Ulferts International Limited EX{L BEIFEH R/ & 23
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Compliance with Disclosure Requirements

Save as the “rentals” in the amount of HK$7,078,000 and the
“project sales” in the amount of HK$753,000 in note 26(a) to the
financial statements which constituted connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, all other
transactions as shown in such note are connected transactions
exempted from announcement, reporting, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied
with/got waiver on the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the above
connected transactions.

Auditor’s Letter on Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
non-exempt continuing connected transactions (“CCTs”) in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Review of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” (“Auditor’s Letter”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor had issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the CCTs in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor’s
Letter had been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Confirmation of Independent Non-Executive Directors on
Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors (“‘INEDs”) had reviewed
the CCTs and the Auditor’s Letter and had confirmed that these
transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better (as the case may be);
and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them on terms that

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of the independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considered that all of the INEDs
remained independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the Board
as recommended by the Remuneration Committee having regard
to a written remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link to
business strategy and a close alignment with the Shareholders’
interest and current best practice). Remuneration should be
paid with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives, the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Executive and Non-
executive Directors, internal equity of employment conditions
across the Group and applicability of performance-based
remuneration. The Directors’ fees are paid in line with market
practice. No individual should determine his or her own
remuneration.

Employee’s remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibilities, competence and skills, experience
and performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration
package includes, as the case may be, basic salary, Directors’
fees, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary bonus
relating to financial performance of the Group and individual
performance and other competitive fringe benefits such as
medical and life insurances.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid employees of the Group are set out in note 8 and note 9 to
the financial statements respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the Group’s largest supplier
accounted for approximately 38% and 13%, respectively of the
Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest
in the above major suppliers of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report from
pages 27 to 50 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, there
was sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire at the 2019 AGM and a resolution for
their reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed
thereat.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chi Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2019
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance for the Company so as to ensure
“Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency” towards
Shareholder, stakeholders, investors as well as employees of
Company.

The Board has adopted various policies to ensure compliance
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“‘CG Code”) under Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. For the
Year, the Company had fully complied with all the code
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for
the leadership, control and promotion of the success of the
Group in the interests of the Shareholders by directing and
supervising its affairs and by formulating strategic directions
and monitoring the financial and management performance of
the Group.

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2019, the Board comprised seven Directors, with
four Executive Directors and three INEDs who possess the skills,
experience and expertise either in the same industry or relevant
to the management of the business of the Group. The
biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 13 to 15 of
this annual report under the “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” section.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wong Chi Fai has been appointed as the Chairman of the
Board who provides leadership for the Board. With the support
of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”), he ensures that all Directors receive, in a timely
manner, adequate information and are properly briefed on
issues arising at the board meetings. He is responsible for
ensuring that the Board works effectively and performs its
responsibilities. He holds meetings without the presence of
Executive Directors with INEDs at least once a year.

Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group (also being an Executive Director) who is responsible for
the Group’s strategic planning, business growth and
development as well as overseeing different functions. The day-
to-day operation and management of the Group’s businesses
are delegated to Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy, the Chief Operating
Officer of the Group (also being an Executive Director).

The Board considers that the current segregation of duties make
the Board and the operation of the Group function effectively.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

All INEDs are professionals with valuable experience and expertise
in legal, accounting or auditing in business areas who contribute
impartial view and make independent judgment on issues to be
discussed at Board meetings. Each of them has been appointed
for an initial term of three years which is renewed automatically for
successive term of one year subject to early termination with notice
being served by either party. The terms of the INEDs are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election provision under the
Articles of Association of the Company.

The Company had received confirmation of independence from
each of the INEDs. Based on the annual review conducted by
the Nomination Committee, the Board considered each of them
to be independent by reference to the factors as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The INEDs had been expressly
identified as such in all corporate communications of the
Company that disclose the names of Directors.

Delegation to the Management

The management is led by the Executive Committee of the
Company (which comprises all the Executive Directors of the
Board) and has delegated powers and authorities to carry out the
day-to-day management and operation of the Group, formulate
business policies and make decision on key business issues. The
Executive Committee shall have all powers and authorities of the
Board except the following matters as set out in a formal schedule
of matters specifically reserved by the Board:

e determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;
e approving annual and interim results and financial reporting;

e declaring or recommending payment of dividends or other
distributions;

e approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

e approving publication of the announcement for notifiable
transactions under the Listing Rules;

e approving non-exempted connected transactions/non-
exempted continuing connected transactions (other than
those transactions took place from time to time under the
master agreement(s) previously approved by the Board/
Shareholders of the Company (as the case may be)) under
the Listing Rules;

e approving proposed transactions requiring Shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules;

e approving major capital restructuring and issue of new
securities of the Company;

Ulferts International Limited EX{k B & R/ &
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e approving the establishment of Board committees;

e approving policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, including but not limited to
risk management policy, remuneration policy and corporate
governance policy;

e approving financial assistance to Directors;

e ensuring the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions; and

e approving such other matters or transactions as specified
by the Board or as thought fit by the Committee or as
required by all applicable laws, rules and regulations from
time to time.

Induction, Support and Professional Development of Directors

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the
relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of
disclosure of equity and business interest in the Group and such
induction materials will also be provided to newly appointed
Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. All
Directors have been updated on the latest developments of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. There is a procedure agreed
by the Board to enable Directors, upon reasonable request, to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses in order to assist
them to perform their duties to the Company.

The Directors confirmed that they had complied with the Code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. During the
Year, each Director had participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars/workshops/reading
materials on the following topics to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and provided a record of training to the
Company.

Name of Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Fai =EBALE
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky REEEE
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy EREZ+
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SERUE T
Ms. Chan Yee Man PRayELZ+
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai B2 L
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue g FEE

e HHERUERZEET:

o HEBBESTIEAN REERET A
BEREHR BEETRRERERER
R FHBER R B RERBUR

o HEHNESZRFEL

o MWRARAEGH ABEZNMUBER
BetcBR BITEMR LK HFIG
LEEZRRM R

e WEBESREXZEGRAR/EALM
BAREREER RAUSERREZ
BRAEMERIRZS -

ESCRE XEREXER

BEEHCERHERETEST ZIRER
B EARES ZAEREN MRP  RA%
Bl REBERIE 2B E2HERES
B MR EESERER  TEREHR
MERHZSATEFTANER -2RES
TER EMRAMEMEREE 2R HR
ERRHEFR femERER - FRF IR E
HRECEEAFRIBEFZ -EFECAET
BF FEZAHEEERTEAEERR
SHRBUEXE LA EERARRNT
BE BRHARQEEIE-

EXER FFCETEREATAANEGH
BRIz EEEATRIRXEA65K R
AER SEFHCLEKETXER BB
HERBAT EEZ BHE,  TIEYBI&
M AR MEIR RS 2 AE KR e (R
AR ISR

Topics of training covered

I B 2 AR

1) corporate governance 1EEA
2) finance B1#

3) industry specific 1T¥4+8H

4) regulatory EE&
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Relationship between the Board Members

None of the members of the Board has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relations) among each other.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of any legal action against the Directors.

Directors’ Attendance

The attendance of Directors at the meetings during the Year is
set out below:

EZEHERZBR

ExenBcHMETARR(BENE X
% KB EMEKRBHEBER) -

EEzRE

ARRRIDAEFA e H Y 2 ERDERFA
tEHEE Z ARk -

ESHFEERER
BEEFRAFELESZRZBRHINWT ¢

No. of meetmgs attended/held
LEeRE/ BIeERY

30

Corporate Chairman
Audit Remuneration  Nomination  Governance Executive  Meeting with
Name of Directors Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee  Committee INEDs 2018 AGM
IEEEY
. FAnEs 2018
£3:5 Ehzag RREEAE
Executive Directors
UnES
Wong Chi Fai (Note 1) 6/6 17 6/6 1 1
ER(M1)
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky 6/6 6/6 1
il
Mok Fung Lin, Ivy 6/6 6/6 1
ERE
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (Note 2) 6/6 22 n 6/6 n
B (W)
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTES
Chan Yee Man (Note 3) 6/6 3B 17 212 17 17
REZ(Wits)
Chiu Kin Fai (Note 4) 6/6 33 22 1 1 n
BB (M)
Ng Hoi Yue (Note 9) 6/6 33 7 7 7 7
T (Hits)
Total number of meetings held: 6 3 1 2 1 6 1 1
gremzay:
Notes: M
1. Chairman of the Executive Committee 1. HOREEER
2. Chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee 2. BXEARZBEGER
3. Chairperson of the Audit Committee 3. ELZZB®ER
4. Chairman of the Nomination Committee 4. REZBGER
5. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 5. ¥HMZRE®XRE
Upon reviewing (a) the annual confirmation of the time ,@Tﬁéﬂt(a)xé$ffﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂjH—yF’ﬁ?’*HjZiF
commitment given by each Director; (b) the directorships and f”? (b)ﬂé%ﬁﬁ?{%;%i%iﬁiz&
major commitments of each Director; and (c) the attendance "7 )/%(C) §$EAE§$ BEmRE ﬂﬁﬁxé?

rate of each Director on full board and the respective Board
Committee meetings as well as general meetings, the Board is
satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient time in
performing their responsibilities during the Year.
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Board Meetings and Proceedings

Regular Board meetings were held at approximately quarterly
intervals. The Directors have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary and key officers of the company
secretarial team for ensuring that the Board procedures as well
as all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the meeting
agenda is set by the Chairman of the Board in consultation with
other Board members. Board meeting notice was sent to the
Directors at least 14 days prior to each regular Board meeting.
For all other board meetings, reasonable notice was given.
Board paper and related materials which provide appropriate,
accurate, clear, complete and reliable information are generally
sent to all Directors and relevant committee members at least 3
days before each regular Board meeting and Board Committee
meeting to enable the Directors to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
drafted by the secretary of the meetings and recorded in
sufficient details the matters considered and decisions reached,
with draft and final versions being circulated to the Directors for
their comment and records respectively, within reasonable time
after the meetings are held. Originals of such minutes, being
kept by the Company Secretary, are open for inspection at any
reasonable time with reasonable notice by any Director.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material,
the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather
than a written resolution. That Director will abstain from voting
on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or any of his/
her associates has a material interest and he/she shall not be
counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting. INEDs,
who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in
the transaction are present at that Board meeting.

Board Committees

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have been
delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance
Committee and Executive Committee.

All members of the Audit Committee and the majority members
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are
INEDs. Clear written terms of reference of all the Board
Committees are given to the respective members of these
Committees. Details of the Board Committees are set out below:
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Executive Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Executive Committee consists of all the Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman of the
Committee), Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky, Ms. Mok Fung Lin,
vy and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa. The primary duties of
the Executive Committee are (a) formulating business
policies and making decision (including entering into
transactions) on matters relating to the management and
day-to-day operations of the Group; (b) making and
reviewing corporate/financial/treasury planning investment
and operation strategy of the Group; (c) discussing and
approving any financial, borrowing, charging and guarantee
commitment to be made or on behalf of the Group; (d)
approving discloseable transactions, exempted connected
transactions and non-exempted continuing connected
transactions took place from time to time under the master
agreement(s) previously approved by the Board/
Shareholders (as the case may be) under the Listing Rules;
and (e) having all power and authorities of the Board except
those matters specifically reserved for the full Board as set
out in the “Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and
delegated by the Board” adopted by the Board from time to
time.

Audit Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Ms.
Chan Yee Man (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr. Chiu Kin
Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue.

The specific written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee is
primarily responsible for (a) making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the external auditor; (b) reviewing and monitoring the
external auditor’s independence and objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process; (c) approving the
remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor;
and (d) reviewing financial information and overseeing the
financial reporting, risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee held three meetings during
the Year.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed with the management/finance-in-charge and/
or the external auditor the effectiveness of audit
process and the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, the accuracy and fairness of the
annual consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2018 (“Previous Year”)
and the interim consolidated financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2018;
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ii. reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group;

iii. annual review of the non-exempt continuing connected
transactions of the Group for the Previous Year;

iv. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor at the 2018 annual general meeting
(2018 AGM”); and

v. approved the audit plan for the Year, reviewed the
independence of external auditor and approved its
engagement.

Remuneration Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (Chairman of the Committee), Ms.
Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Fai, an
Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration Committee
is primarily responsible for making recommendation to the
Board on (a) the Company’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management; (b) the
remuneration of INEDs; and (c) the specific remuneration
packages for individual Executive Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of each of the
Directors for the Year are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Remuneration
Committee held one meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation
to the Board; and

ii. reviewed the remuneration structure/package of the
Executive Directors and senior management and made
recommendation to the Board on their specific
packages.

i. HESHATEERMBAERTASE
EEBEERANBELRELEZK
e

i. WAKER E—FEZIFRRITE
ERFETFEERN

iv. BEEESN2018FEREREERS
([2018RAF RS ) FEFHZHE
SNEEAZ AN ¢ K

v. HERFEZEBZEFE mENE
ZEIRD 2 B R E R .

FMESE (R2018%F1H8HK L)
¥z Eem=—2XEEK EDRIR
BIYRTESELETRE(ZEE®E
FBIRREEL L URHITESTETE
S o

FMEZEez AR EEBERE N
RIRARRBEER -FHEES

ZREMQ)AAFBCEERSNEEE
ZHBNR IRE (D) BIFITES
ZE  R(c)ERMITES kSR E R
BzABFHETBRESSREEEER
R-ANFREREEZZHEMFRIEANES
MMM - MR B ENANFER

R
1T AEx°

RAFER  HMEZESMETZ TE
mEFHIIT

BNEERETMNEFTSRMHER
BRI M

i. MEMTEERSNEEREZH M
R FRBKT Ui S 2 AR
FHFEREESREMER -

Ulferts International Limited EX{L EIFE B BR 2 &)

Annual Report 2018/2019 3R

33



34

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Nomination Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (Chairman of the Committee), Ms.
Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs and Ms. Fan Man Seung,
Vanessa, an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are (a) reviewing the structure, size
and diversity of the Board; (b) reviewing the Board Diversity
Policy; (c) determining the policy for the nomination of
Directors (“Nomination Policy”) and identifying potential
candidates for directorship; (d) assessing the
independence of INEDs; (e) reviewing the time commitment
of each Director; and (f) making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment, re-election or
re-designation of Directors and succession planning for
Directors. The Nomination Committee held two meetings
during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;
ii. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;

ii. reviewed the time committed by the Directors in
performing their duties as Directors;

iv. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election
of Directors at the 2018 AGM; and

v. made recommendation to the Board on the adoption of
the Nomination Policy and the revised terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee.

Board Diversity Policy

As adopted by the Board, the Board Diversity Policy aims to
achieve diversity on the Board in the broadest sense in
order to have a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives to the business nature of the Company.
Selection of candidates on the Board is based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Nomination Committee will also assess the
merits and contribution of any Director proposed for re-
election or any candidate nominated to be appointed as
Director that will bring to the Board against the objective
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board that would complement the Company’'s corporate
strategy.
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Nomination Policy

During the Year, the Company has adopted a written
Nomination Policy of the Group. It aims at assisting the
Nomination Committee in identifying and nominating
suitable candidates for directorship based on the Board
Diversity Policy and sets out the nomination criteria and the
nomination procedures for (i) nominating additional Director
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board; (ii) making
recommendation to Shareholders regarding any Director for
election or re-election of Director at general meeting; and
(iii) nomination by Shareholders on election of new Director.

Corporate Governance Committee (set up on 8 January
2018)

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CGC”) consists of
five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(Chairperson of the Committee), the Executive Director, Mr.
Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, both being INEDs, a
representative from company secretarial function and a
representative from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CGC is
available on the Company’s website. The primary duties of
the CGC are (a) reviewing the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Company and making
recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices of the Company on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (c)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to Directors and relevant employees of the
Group on dealings with the Company’s securities; (d)
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management; and (e) reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Report. The CGC
held one meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the CGC during the
Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the Corporate Governance Policy and made
recommendation to the Board:;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the code of conduct applicable to Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in Corporate Governance Report.

RAEME

RAEAFEE ARG EEERARNEEZ
RABK EEEHBIRZRZESRIE
EEeLntBERYEeREREAENE
EREA UH)IRBBEINES AR
SRR (NMRRIREEE
BRASERNIEETMNEENER
TR E SR RBIRERZYFIRES
BERRZERF-

B}

LTEELESS(R2018F1H8HKT)

=}
%ﬁﬁé%@ﬁm%améﬁADm
hAKEAK KD B BRITESEH
Wut(EEEE f“) BYIFATES

ARELERMOETEE —R2RRMW
ERRERRE—BW B R BEREK -

TrEEARZEGZAREHBESER
RARBIHUBEH CXERTEE®Z
TERER(QBIARBEREERT

HZBREERIMEESRFEERS
R (o) RERANRREETIER R
EEMRETHEIBREER  (c)HlE

Aﬁ& CRBENASENEEERESR
RRABBHFMERZ1TH/TA (d)RE
%?“%&%ﬁEEFZEW&?@
BEER Me)RdARRETERE
ATARABRERE2BER - XEAR
ZEERNAFERITREHE-

RARFER EREARLREE
TEBZESSIMT

8

1T 2
WA EEEARRENEZTSEM
HEER

. BMAEETEREEEEATIEZ
BUR K ER

i. BMEEELEREEBZEIILE
BEERRE

iv. RWEERAKERBEREZTA
2R R

v. BEARRETEEENR
XERREZWERNR -

7R R b

Ulferts International Limited EX{L EIFE B BR 2 &)

Annual Report 2018/2019 &3k

35



36

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary whose appointment was approved by
the Board, plays an important role in supporting the Board for
ensuring good information flow within the Board and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures are followed. She reported
to the Chairperson of CGC on governance matters and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had duly complied with
the training requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors (“Ulferts Securities Code”)
on terms no less exacting than the required standards set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules regarding Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, all of
them confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard of dealings in the Model Code and Ulferts Securities
Code throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare the
annual consolidated financial statements of the Group and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules. The
management has provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates on internal financial statements which give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects as at the reporting date.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year,
the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis (with
supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary) and
showed a true view of the state of affairs of the Group for the
Year. The management had provided sufficient explanation and
information to the Board on the consolidated financial
statements to enable it to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before it for approval. The
auditor of the Company had made a statement about their
reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

A.

Goals and objectives

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation
and day-to-day running of a business and it assists a
company in achieving its business objectives. Internal
control policies and procedures within the Group are with
the primary objective of providing general guidance and
recommendations on a basic framework of risk
management and internal control systems in order to
reduce the likelihood or mitigate the Group’s operational
risks and inherent risks.

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems (“Control
Systems”). Such Control Systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The key objectives of the Control Systems include:
e safeguarding assets

e ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of
financial records and reports

e promoting adherence to policies,
regulations and laws

procedures,

e promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations

The policy sets forth (i) the internal control measures and
procedures covering all material controls including
governance, operational, financial and compliance controls;
and (ii) risk management functions in respect of the
principal subsidiaries of the Company.

Internal Control

The management is entrusted to implement an adequate
internal control system to ensure the effective functioning of
the Group’s governance, operational, financial and
compliance areas. The control structure of the Control
Systems is set out as follows:
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1. Governance Control
i. The Board

» responsible for the Control Systems and
reviewing their effectiveness

» oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing
basis with the assistance of the Audit
Committee

» ensure maintenance of appropriate and
effective Control Systems

» define management structure with clear lines
of responsibility and limit of authority

» determine the nature and extent of significant
risks that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the strategic objectives and
formulate the Group’s risk management
strategies

ii. Audit Committee

» review and discuss the Control Systems with
the management annually to ensure that the
management has performed its duty to have
effective Control Systems. This discussion
includes the adequacy of resources, staff
qualification and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function

» review the nature and extent of significant
risks, and the Company’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external
environment

» review and discuss annually the significant
control failings or weaknesses that are
identified and raised by the auditors

» consider major findings on internal control
matters raised by internal or external auditors
and make recommendations to the Board

iii. The management (includes heads of business
units, departments and divisions)

» design and implement the internal control and
risk management policy and procedures duly
endorsed by senior management and the
Board

» monitor the Control Systems properly and
ensure that they are executed effectively

» monitor risks and take measures to mitigate
risks in their day-to-day operations
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iv.

» give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings (if any) on internal control matters
raised by internal or external auditors

» provide confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems

» prepare organization charts to show the
reporting relationships within the operation and
management to establish lines of
responsibilities

Internal Audit Department

» carry out the analysis and independent
appraisal of adequacy and effectiveness of the
Control Systems in respect of all material
controls, including financial, operational and
compliance aspects

» alert the management on the audit review
findings or irregularities and advise them on
the implementation of necessary steps and
actions to enhance the internal controls of the
Group

» report the results of internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans to the Audit Committee
and the Board on regular basis

2. Operational Controls

Approach taken: The management conducts
interviews with relevant staff, reviews relevant
documentation of the Control Systems and evaluates
findings of any deficiencies in the design of the
Group’s Control Systems, provides recommendations
for improvement and assesses the effectiveness of
implementation of such recommendations, where
appropriate. The scope and findings of review on the
Control Systems will be reported to and reviewed by
the Audit Committee annually.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines:
To safeguard the assets against unauthorized use
or disposition and ensure maintenance of proper
accounting records that are in compliance with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations for the
provision of reliable financial that are information
for internal use and/or external publication.

Management information system and technology:
To control over the business activities allows close
tracking of various inputs and outputs of the Group’s
business such as inventory, products, customer
information system and human resources. It also
tracks audit trails in the authorization system under
which permissions and responsibility of authorization
are clearly identified and adequate records can be
maintained in the system.

> BRERSRIMNE R BIADEE H
ZBEBANNEEEE 2%
B (A ) 1F i R B E &
BRAE

> BERERGZAMMERE
EEIFHER

> RELEHEMEE REZ
BNEEANRERRE
A2 BEE

iv. AEBEZEBFT

> HERRAGHAEERER
(BREMF 2ERART
)2 e MR R
TN RIBILFHE

> REEERMAMERR
A2 BRI RETR
KR EREUL B B M 1T 8
IR m A B AR 2Ty
mRAEEREER

> TEHRERZEERES
SERABDEZ R 24
REBERIT 258

2. EEER

PRI A% BIEEEMARE
THETER WEHEERSR
MM E AR ST R
BRAPAER ZEFMTE
N ERERLERE N AE
AR RSB R E
) BT R BB R B M 3%
HAeBFE2REFZZE UL
HERE

BEFMREFES  ARE
BE WRREREFMANRE
B URKRETERER R
ASERGFEEE STt
VAR m] 52 B 75 B R A B
AR SHEIN T -

EEEMABRR M - 25X
Bae ARFEYERASE
Xz 8B AREL W75
5 Em BPERRGRA
NER o E IR R 5400 58 Mt
BIZIEF B RAERT A R
REERERD LRGN FE
FESFCER

Ulferts International Limited EX{L BEIFEH R/ &
Annual Report 2018/2019 3R

39



40

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ExE

i

Vi.

Vil.

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and
analysis of each segment are conducted on regular
basis such that the performance of each point of
sales and each product category can be easily
accessible.

Information flow: The transparent information flow
alerts us promptly of any deviations. Benchmarking
with historical database and comparisons with the
same also act as a detecting device for spotting
unusual activities.

Safeguarding of assets: A number of general
insurance policies are maintained including
general accident insurance on the asset in office,
warehouse, retail stores against robbery, burglary,
fire and flooding. Insurance for unexpected
operational risks and marine insurance for cargo
shipment from suppliers or manufacturers which
are not on CIF terms are also maintained.
Stocktake is conducted at least once a year and
cycle counts may be prescribed by operation
head. Daily cash count at retail shops and
reconciliation is conducted.

Quality control: starting from procurement stage in
selection of furniture suppliers and product
offering:

» For “Ulfenbo” products and products for
special projects, suppliers and manufacturers
are required to produce evidence of
compliance such as test reports, raw material
suppliers’ certificates and documents on
electrical parts.

» Before placing purchase orders with any new
furniture suppliers, the procurement team will
assess their workmanship and product quality
as well as their reputation in the industry.

» For products of new design which are usually
first released in the international furniture
exhibitions and fairs, the procurement team
will inspect the products for workmanship and
safety or quality issue. Regular meetings are
held between the procurement team and the
inspection and repair team to exchange,
discuss and resolve any quality issue with the
products. We also engage independent third
parties from time to time to inspect products
manufactured in the PRC.
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For custom-made furniture, the project team
conducts pre-shipment inspection at the
factory of our outsourced manufacturers by
checking of random samples of the finished
products on workmanship and other
specifications such as size, labelling and
packaging to verify that the finished lots
conform to such specifications before delivery.

When the cargo of our products are shipped to
Hong Kong, the logistics team will check the
quantity, shipping mark and package condition
of the products upon their delivery to our
warehouse. The whole process of devanning the
cargo will be recorded by video. If the Company
discovers there is any damage, our logistics
team will, sometimes under the supervision of
surveyors, unpack the relevant product and
examine it for defect. For products of new model
or from new supplier, our sales team will perform
checking when the goods arrive at the store for
display.

If any complaint is received in respect of any
product which is attributable to manufacturing
defect, the procurement team in conjunction with
the inspection and repair team would make a
decision as to whether or not to inspect other
pieces of the same product model from the
same shipment to see if similar manufacturing
defect occurs in the same batch of shipment.

Our management will be informed if defects
are found and our sales director will decide
whether to proceed with insurance claim and/
or liaise with the relevant supplier for
negotiation of appropriate remedy.

Purchase: The Group maintains a list of
approved suppliers for purchase of inventory. All
suppliers and their payment terms are pre-
approved by CEO and recorded in systems.
CEO stipulates the amount of inventory purchase
each month after taking into account of inventory
level and sales forecast. Inventory provision
policy is based on aging position of inventory
items and their condition. All consignment items
are approved by CEO on a case-by-case basis.

Retail Sales and wholesale sales: Discount policy
and credit policy are in place. All discounts
offered must be pre-approved by management.
No credit is given to retail customers. Goods
return/refund must be approved by
management. Consignment of Ulfenbo products
to dealers must be approved by COO.
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i

Financial Controls

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

proper controls are in place for the recording of
complete, accurate and timely accounting and
management information;

annual budget on all capital and revenue items are
prepared and approved by the management before
being adopted;

the management monitors the business activities
closely and reviews monthly financial results of
operations against budgets/forecast;

regular reports on revenue, trade receivables’
ageing and debtors’ ageing and internal financial
reports are prepared to the management which
give a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Group’s financial performance;

monthly updates on internal financial statements
are provided to management and all Directors
which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance, financial
position, liquidity and prospects in sufficient
details;

bank reconciliation is performed on monthly basis
to identify unrecorded bank transactions;

monthly inventory count is performed in storerooms
and warehouse:;

annual audit by external auditor is carried out to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, the Group’s
accounting policies and the applicable laws and
regulations;

daily available fund report is reviewed to monitor
the cash flows against budgets/forecast; and

review the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff for accounting and
financial reporting function and their training
programs.
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4. Compliance Controls

The following policies and procedures are in place to
safeguard the compliance control:

Systems and Procedures on Disclosure of Inside
Information to ensure, with the assistance of an
internal work team (if required), that any material
information which comes to the knowledge of any
one or more officers should be promptly identified,
assessed and escalated, where appropriate, for
the attention of the Board. The Board shall make
timely decisions on disclosure, if necessary, and
take appropriate measures to preserve
confidentiality of inside information until proper
dissemination of inside information;

ii. Policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements which shall be
reviewed and monitored regularly by the Corporate
Governance Committee as delegated by the Board
in order to ensure that the Company is in
compliance with all the applicable laws, statues,
rules and regulations and keep up on any legal
developments;

ii. CCT Compliance Committee is established to
monitor, control and regularly review connected
transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company and ensure proper
compliance with all relevant laws and regulations,
the Listing Rules and disclosure requirements;

iv. Whistle-blowing policy for the employees of the
Group to raise concerns, in confidence, about
possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. Such arrangement
will be reviewed by the Audit Committee which
ensures that proper arrangement is in place for fair
and independent investigation of the matters; and

v. Anti-money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Policy and Procedures is established
to set out the general framework for combating
crime against money laundering and financing of
terrorism. It provides guideline to prevent the
Group’s employees and clients/customers/
suppliers/vendors/contractors from being misused
for money laundering, terrorist financing or other
financial crime and has set out some indications of
potentially suspicious transactions/activities for
employees’ reference.
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Review of Internal Controls
Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by Internal Audit

Department regularly.

Internal audit reviews and agreed

action plans should be reported to the Audit Committee and
the Board on timely basis.

C. Risk Management

1.

Risk Management Process

The risk management process includes risk
identification, risk evaluation, risk management
measures and risk control and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify,
analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risk are
evaluated by the Board and management based on (i)
the severity of the impact of the risk on the Group’s
financial results; (ii) the probability that the risk will
occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which risk may
occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage
the risk as follows:—

e Risk elimination — the management may identify
and implement certain changes or controls that in
effect eliminate the risk entirely.

e Risk mitigation — the management may implement
risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the
likelihood, velocity or severity of the risk to an
acceptable level or contingency plan for possible
loss scenarios.

e Risk control and monitoring — it involves making
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable
and how to address those that are not; accidents
and other situations involving loss or near-loss will
be investigated and properly documented as part
of the effort to manage risks.

e Risk retention — the management may decide that
the risk rating is low enough that the risk is
acceptable level and no action is required and the
risk will continue to be monitored as part of the risk
management program to ensure the level of risk
does not increase to an unacceptable level.
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2. Significant Risks and Strategies

Certain significant risks have been identified through
the process of risk identification and assessment. Such
significant risks of the Group and their respective key
strategies/control measures are set out below:

i. Reliance on Hong Kong market

e To diversify the market exposure, the Group
explores online option with no territorial
limitation.

ii. Unknown online competitors

e The Group is further developing and
leveraging on online and offline market.

iii. Shop location and rental expenses

Shop rental is always the key cost component of
the Group. The significant fluctuation of shop rents
may affect the Group’s profitability. The Company
seeks to reduce the risk of cost increases in the
following ways:—

e establish good relationship with landlords and
developers, keep abreast of rental of premises
in the vicinity to cater for showroom
replacement, if required;

e explore other locations with good potential at
reasonable level; traffic and relative position to
competitors nearby are also evaluated;

e perform profitability forecast to determine
financial viability; and

e closely monitor individual shop performance
and profitability to determine their renewal
options.

iv. Product selection

Product selection is the area where the Group
should focus on in order to make sure that we stay
ahead of the competition:

e The purchasing team and management will
attend various furniture fairs to keep abreast of
latest trend and select good products.

e Regular sales meetings are held to review the
sales trend and market.
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v. Inventories turnover management

A higher, or quicker, inventory turnover decreases
the cash conversion cycle. An effective inventories
turnover management is in place:—-

e there is a regular review on inventory ageing
position; compare with sales forecast and
market trend;

e high-value items are purchased after sales are
received; and

e close business relationship and communication
is maintained with manufacturers to strive for
optimal and timely supply.

vi. Cyber security risk

In order to mitigate cyber security risk, the
following measures are in place:—

e install specialized ransomware/virus detection
software in all computers;

e access rights to the Group’s systems are
strictly controlled and regularly reviewed;

e training for personnel about dangerous email
attachments; and

e regular backups of data for recovery.

The Board will make sure that the risks facing by the
Group shall be reviewed regularly, and the management
will take suitable measures to deal with them on ongoing
basis.

D. Management Confirmation

The Board had received a confirmation from the
management on the effectiveness of the Control Systems of
the Group for the Year. The Audit Committee and the Board,
upon reviewing the Control Systems, were not aware of any
significant issues that would have an adverse impact on the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s operational,
financial and compliance areas of the Control Systems.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication
policy and the Board shall review it on a regular basis to ensure
its effectiveness. The Company communicates with the
Shareholders mainly in the following ways: (i) the holding of
annual general meetings (“AGM”) and extraordinary general
meetings, if any, which may be convened for specific purposes
which provide opportunities for the Shareholders to
communicate directly to the Board; (ii) the publication of
announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars
as required under the Listing Rules and press releases
providing updated information of the Group; (iii) the availability
of latest information of the Group in the Company’s website at
https://www.ulfertsintl.com; (iv) the holding of press
conference(s) from time to time; and (v) meeting with investors
and analysts on a regular basis and participate investor road
show and sector conference.

There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and
general presentations are made when financial results are
announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the
Company’s website to raise enquiries through our Investor
Relations Department whose contact details are available on the
Company’s website and the “Corporate Information and Key
Dates” section of this annual report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for
substantial separate issues, including re-election of retiring
Directors. The Company’s notice to the Shareholders for the
2018 AGM was sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear business
days before the meeting and notices of all other general
meetings will be sent to the Shareholders at least 10 clear
business days before the meetings.

The chairman of the 2018 AGM, the chairmen/members of the
Board Committees and the external auditor were available at the
2018 AGM to answer questions from the Shareholders. With the
assistance of the Company Secretary, the Chairman of the
meeting had explained the procedures for conducting a poll
during the meeting.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company had adopted a written dividend policy setting out
the principles for the Board to determine appropriate amount of
dividend to be distributed. The Company intends to provide
Shareholders with regular interim and final dividends (as the
case may be) based on the earnings attribution to its
Shareholders after taking into consideration of the factors stated
in the policy, inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements for business
operations; (ii) cash available, financial liabilities and capital
commitment; (iii) market environment and challenges; and (iv)
future development and investment opportunities. The
declaration of dividends or recommendation on such payment
shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations
including but not limited to the Listing Rules, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“CO”) and
the articles of association of the Company. The management will
continuously review the dividend policy and make
recommendation to the Board from time to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code.

Right to call convene/call a General Meeting

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights
of all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings may send a request to the Company pursuant to
Section 566 of the CO. The request must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and may
include the text of resolution that may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the meeting. Requests may consist of
several documents in like form. A request may be sent to the
Company for the attention of the Company Secretary in hard
copy form or in electronic form and must be authenticated by
the relevant Shareholder(s). Such request will be verified by the
Company’s share registrar and the Company Secretary will
arrange for the Board to convene a general meeting within 21
days upon its confirmation that the request is in order. Such
meeting must be held on a date not more than 28 days after the
date of the notice convening the meeting and such notice must
include notice of the resolution.
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Section 568 of the CO provides that if the Directors do not within
21 days as stated above to call a general meeting, the
Shareholders representing more than one half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may themselves call a general meeting, but
the meeting so convened must be called for a date not more
than 3 months after the Directors become subject to the
requirement to call a meeting. The meeting must be called in the
same matter, as nearly as possible, as that in which that
meeting is required to be called by the Directors. The business
that may be dealt with at the meeting includes a resolution to be
dealt with at the meeting. All reasonable expenses incurred by
the Shareholders of this purpose must be reimbursed by the
Company.

Putting forward Proposals at General Meetings/Right to
Circulate Resolution at AGM

Section 615 of the CO provides that (i) Shareholder(s)
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders; or (ii) at least 50 Shareholders having a right to
vote on the resolution at the AGM may request the Company to
circulate a notice of a resolution to be properly moved or is
intended to be moved at the AGM. Such request must identify
the resolution to be moved at the AGM, must be authenticated
by the relevant Shareholder(s) and sent to the registered office
of the Company for the attention of the Company Secretary in
hard copy form or in electronic form not later than 6 weeks
before the relevant AGM or if later, the time when the notice of
AGM is despatched.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company’s website.

Enquires from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited. Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be
directed to the Investor Relations Department of the Company
whose contact details are shown on “Corporate Information and
Key Dates” section of this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN RESPECT OF
NON-COMPETITION DEED

Pursuant to a deed of non-competition undertaking dated 15
January 2018 (“Deed”) provided by Ulferts International Group
Holdings Limited, Albert Yeung Holdings Limited and Dr. Albert
Yeung (“Covenantors”) in favour of the Company, the
Covenantors had given undertakings to the Company not to
carry on, or be interested or involved or engaged in or acquire
or hold any rights or interest, whether directly or indirectly, in
any of the Restricted Business (as defined in the Deed).

1. Covenantors had confirmed that they had fully complied
with the undertakings in the Deed and that the Company
had not received nor was aware of any New Business
Opportunities (as defined in the Deed) that required the
Covenantors to offer to the Company by the Deed; and

2. the INEDs had made an annual review on the compliance of
the terms of the Deed by the Covenantors and the
enforcement of the non-competition undertakings in the
Deed and formed the view that the Covenantors had fully
complied with the undertakings in the Deed.

Albert Yeung Holdings Limited ceased to be a controlling
shareholder of the Company with effect from 30 March 2019.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with applicable standards. Members
of the Audit Committee were of the view that the Company’s
auditor, Messrs. Ernst & Young (“EY”) is independent and had
recommended the Board to re-appoint it as the Company’s
auditor at the 2019 AGM. During the Year, EY has rendered
audit services and certain non-audit services to the Group and
the remuneration paid/payable to it by the Group is set out as
follows:

Service rendered

FRiZ AR

Audit services ZERTE
Non-audit services IERZBR TS
— Agreed-upon procedures for continuing -
connected transactions and review of
preliminary results announcement
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ED R &

To the members of Ulferts International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ulferts
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“‘Group”) set out on pages 57 to 131, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

%8 3T 1% S B R

Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the

MEEStER(E)
BPIERET T ARE [ ZHMAFAAFE
ABEREAENE DR EE - B4
BELRIRBE FRMEMNE T - AR 3
PMES TERRERTARE NGRS M
BHRERENERELR MR HOFSARRF ]
PIITRATIZF VAR - BIRE Y T B &
BN FHAAITOET  REAMBEHRRE
BRRBAERRBTER-

basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.

Key audit matters
REEITEE
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

WE7FEE 5 FE

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$46,326,000 (2018: HK$44,226,000)
as at 31 March 2019. The Group periodically reviews
the net realisable value of inventories to determine
whether any write-down of inventories to their net
realisable value is required. In estimating the net
realisable value of inventories, the Group considers,
inter alia, the nature, ageing and condition of
inventories, pricing policy and strategies, current
market condition and other relevant factors.

£ & B ®201943A318 A Ik @ (& #746,326,000/% 7T
(20184F : 44,226,000 L) 27 E - EBEBHGFEZAE
REFEETEHES UBTROTEHFEMBETE
WEE -EGHAFEZATEZRFER . E5EEE(EPE
FE)FEEZHE - ER MR FEBUR MR AR EME

The determination of net realisable value of inventories
requires management to make significant assumptions
and estimates that affect the reported amount of
inventories and related disclosures.

EEAERFEFTEEEBFHEARR G B
EFEZHARSBMAAERE-

We focus on this matter due to the magnitude of the
balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required in estimating the
net realisable value of inventories.

HRBEESRZEBEAN AR FEZA 2R FEFTE
BRBANGRHIE M AR MR IR N NEEER -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

MEAREER SN FE M BRKRMEIR14
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BN ETNIEEERETSE

We evaluated management’'s assessment of
whether the Group’s inventories are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Our
procedures included, inter alia, evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by
the Group in determining the net realisable value
of inventories and the write-down of inventories
required, with reference to, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and condition of inventories, pricing
policy and strategies, historical and subsequent
sales information, and current market condition.

HAPCHAREREN BEEEFERGRMKAER]
BIHEZ RHNBEEZFIAEZ T - RN Z
B BiETH% ESBEEEFEZAEERFEN
PR 2 FEMOBRSFTER 2 7775 B ABEB MERR
ER2EZ(HAPeE)FEZHE Bk iRE - EE
BER M RES - BEREREEER ARRITHN



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ED R &

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

TSR FEREAEMES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R &

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Ulferts International Limited EX{k B & R/ &
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ED R &

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R &

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

27 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
raffmkHttEEitER

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

2019 AONKS]

—E-hF —F-N\F

Notes HK$°000 HK$’000

Fi=E T T FTERT

REVENUE WA 5 242,959 258,553
Cost of sales SHE A (90,695) (94,631)
Gross profit EF 152,264 163,922
Other income and gains H AW A Rz 5 3,575 1,435
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HEAY (130,939) (116,942)
General and administrative expenses —f& M1TH X (29,281) (35,586)
Finance costs B T B AR 6 (240) (283)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX B ADE A, (E18) 7 (4,621) 12,546
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfiil e, (Fs) 10 643 (4,069)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AND A& A, (E518) K
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ S R&mEUES(E18) 2%

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (3,978) 8,477
Attributable to: JEAL

Owners of the parent [SYNSIETFEPN (3,978) 8,477
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE SRR E RS

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BAELBREAERN,(EE)

EQUITY HOLDERS OF

THE PARENT 12

Basic and diluted (expressed in HK  EAR N #5& (G AB W AE A7)
cents per share) (0.50) 1.34
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
eI R

31 March 2019 /201943 H31H

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Fif=E FHET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMEE E
Property, plant and equipment E R L 13 30,826 17,379
Prepayments and deposits R RERES 16 15,009 11,361
Deferred tax assets RIETRIBEEE 21 2,468 1,681
Total non-current assets IERBEELE 48,303 30,421
CURRENT ASSETS mEBEE
Inventories FE 14 46,326 44,226
Trade receivables g 5 U IA 15 9,404 6,263
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIR - 1R e REAEUEIR
receivables 16 8,976 11,577
Tax recoverable AR B I8 2,057 570
Cash and cash equivalents ReREeFEY 59,469 83,385
Total current assets MENEEREE 126,232 146,021
CURRENT LIABILITIES A=K
Trade and bills payables B PN FRIE R ENFIE 17 7,290 7,076
Other payables and accruals Hib e RIBE R IERTE A 18 43,147 28,619
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TRIRITER 19 4,002 19,798
Provisions B 20 1,599 1,241
Total current liabilities B A GEHRE 56,038 56,734
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 70,194 89,287
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERREAE
LIABILITIES 118,497 119,708
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEMEBIAE
Provisions B 20 6,827 4,060
Net assets BEFE 111,670 115,648
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners BAREEARERER
of the parent
Share capital % 22 110,337 110,337
Retained profits IRER 5 A 1,333 5,311
Total equity R 111,670 115,648

Wong Chi Fai

HEE
Director

Bx
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Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
REE
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEHE

= A
7 N = |

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

Share
capital

L€
HK$'000
FET

Retained
profits
REZ &R
HK$°000
THET

Total
equity
R AR
HK$'000
FET

At 1 April 2017 R2017F4H1H 6,065 68,834 74,899
Profit and total comprehensive FWRMN &2 BT

income for the year - 8,477 8,477
Issue of shares BTG, 22 112,000 - 112,000
Share issue expenses feinEErTRSE 22 (7,728) - (7,728)
Interim 2018 dividend 2018F F HARR B 11 - (72,000) (72,000)
At 31 March 2018 and 20185331 &

at 1 April 2018 2018%F4A1H 110,337 5,311 115,648
Loss and total comprehensive FANBELREZEEBES

loss for the year - (8,978) (8,978)
At 31 March 2019 A2019%F3H31H 110,337 1,333 111,670
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GAREERER

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

2019
ZE-NF

HK$'000
TR

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING R¥FHHALRE

2018

ZE-N\F

HK$'000
TET

ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATE A, (ER) (4,621) 12,546
Adjustments for: AT ZIBFAIERE -
Finance costs B 7 X AR 6 240 283
Interest income FEMA 5 (782) (240)
Depreciation e 7 10,358 8,501
Loss on disposal/write-off of items & /HfisEnE -
of property, plant and equipment BEREEEE 2B 7 3 419
Net write-down/(reversal of FMRTFE, (MRFEZ
write-down) of inventories to net e ER IR FE
realisable value 7 710 (75)
Provision for reinstatement costs 1B AR REAEB
- reversal of unutilised provisions/ BBl /fh et B &R D
decrease in estimated provisions 5 (215) -
5,693 21,434
Increase in inventories FEIEM (2,810) (11,207)
Increase in trade receivables 5 e R IEE N (3,141) (1,790)
Increase in prepayments, deposits  TENFIA  H & R HA
and other receivables JE MR TE S AN (1,047) (2,656)
Increase in trade and bills payables & 5 &t 718 K e~
ESESill 214 1,830
Increase in other payables and E MR SRIA R ERT B AL
accruals 14,528 2,983
Decrease in provisions BiEmL (116) (2,000)
Cash generated from operations LEEBFIBIRE 13,321 8,594
Interest received BB 782 240
Hong Kong profits tax paid B EBFEH (1,631) (6,728)
Net cash flows from operating REFTBHABRERETFE
activities 12,472 2,106
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEWME HWERKERE
plant and equipment (20,352) (10,450)
Proceeds from disposal of items of &M%  HEKREER
property, plant and equipment F 15 508 - 124
Net cash flows used in investing ®RETBHFAESRERE
activities (20,352) (10,326)
60 Ulferts International Limited BX{L BB H R A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEHERER
Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

2019 2018
—E-hF —F-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FET

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ®REZEHELRE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BITHRID 1S RIR 22 - 112,000
Share issue expenses AR nEE1TR 22 - (7,728)
Net increase/(decrease) in trust ZEFEWIBEERIE I, O ) R 58

receipt loans (9,778) 13,798
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (6,018) -
New bank borrowings FERITER - 6,000
Dividend paid B E - (72,000)
Interest paid BAIFE (240) (283)
Net cash flows from/(used in) mEEREE(FA)

financing activities M MEFHE (16,036) 51,787
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HReERBREEEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  #1, (B4) B4 (23,916) 43,567
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRELRESEFEY

beginning of year 83,385 39,818
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HSXBE&RELEEY

AT END OF YEAR 59,469 83,385
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH BR&RBESZBEYEHRIN

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B RIRTT4 59,469 83,385
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA TS S R B =L

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office of the Company is located at Units 1905-
07, 19th Floor, Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 January 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the
following principal activities:

e retail of imported furniture

e wholesale of imported furniture

e project sales and consultancy service arrangements
(“special projects”)

The immediate holding company of the Company is Ulferts
International Group Holdings Limited, which is incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

In the opinion of the directors, Albert Yeung Investments
Holdings Limited (“AY Investments Holdings”), which is
incorporated in the BVI, has replaced Albert Yeung
Holdings Limited (“AY Holdings”), which is incorporated in
the BVI, as the ultimate holding company of the Company
since 30 March 2019 and both AY Holdings and AY
Investments Holdings were legally wholly-owned by STC
International Limited acting as the trustee of The Albert
Yeung Discretionary Trust (“AY Trust”), a discretionary trust
set up by Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert, a deemed
substantial shareholder of the Company (the “Deemed
Substantial Shareholder”).

Ulferts International Limited EX{k B & R/ &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H5 S R Bl =L

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

I. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREEER(E

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of

incorporation
and business

AR

REgwH

BENEATZEN
ARFHBATZHEDT -

Issued
ordinary
share capital
E&T
BERE

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
AR
EiREAD L

Direct Indirect

Principal
activities

Eurodecor Furniture
Limited
EXGERERAT

Eurodecor Furniture
(Holdings) Limited
ExGM(ER)BRAF

Glory Wish Limited
ERBRAR

Great Bloom Corporation
Limited
BEERAF

Link Profit Investment
\ Limited
ARk BERAF

Linkpac Development
Limited
ABRREERAT

Marvel Win Limited
RRERAT

Mighty Wish Limited
BERRAF

Hong Kong
&R

Hong Kong

&R

Hong Kong

Hong Kong
R

Hong Kong
&R

Hong Kong
EE

Hong Kong
R

Hong Kong
&R

HK$500,000
500,000/ T

HK$8,800,000

8,800,000/ 7

HK$2
28T

HK$1
T

HK$2
2B

HK$2
28T

HK$1
BT

HK$1,000,000
1,000,000/ 7

E# [k

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

Retail of imported
furniture and
investment holding

EARNTER
REAR

Provision of group tenancy
agent services
RESEREREARY

Provision of group tenancy
agent services
RUESEHEREARY

Provision of group tenancy
agent services

R EEREREARE

Provision of group
tenancy agent services
RESERERBARE

Provision of group
tenancy agent services
RUESEHEREARY

Provision of group
tenancy agent services

R EEREREARE

Provision of group
tenancy agent services
RESERERBARE

Ulferts International Limited EX{L BEIFEH R/ & 63
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT SR R it =

Year ended 31 March 2019 #Z£2019F3A31H L FE

I. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION I. RAREEER(EZ

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EREMBARZER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: ARAMBRBZFFBENT (&)
(continued)
Place of Issued Percentage of
incorporation ordinary equity attributable Principal
and business share capital to the Company activities
AR BR#fT LN
REE EERA EiERGEADL TEER
Direct Indirect
E& &
Rich Ascent Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of group
HEERAR BE BT tenancy agent services

R EEREREARE

True Fair Inc. British Virgin Islands US$50,000 - 100 Investment holding
ABRUES 50,000 T RE R
Ulferts International British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
Investment Limited EBATES (ES RERR
B ERREERAR
Ulferts of Sweden Hong Kong HK$350,000 - 100 Retail and wholesale of
(Far East) Limited Bk 350,0005 7T imported furniture, and
AR (ER)BRAR special projects
EOGHTERRER
TiRER
Ulferts of Sweden Macau MOP25,000 - 100  Liaising with project
(Macau) Limited R 25,0002 1T customers
B (RFT) BR AR in Macau
R RFIERER
Wealthy House Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of group
EEERAA & 18T tenancy agent services
RESEREREARE
Wider Wealth Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100  Provision of group tenancy
B ERAR & 187 agent services

R EEREREARE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H5 S R Bl =L

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

2.1 BB

M BHRRCREBEEESHMAG(EH
BRI AE ) PIEM 2 BB B ]ME
ZR([FAMBRELRD(BEAEE
B BREER  FEGAER(EE
SEFER ) R2E) BAEARERA
AR E B RBERD T IARE - MK
TR I S B AR M B o L B 75 R 39 DA
BB 25 Mk=EHAE
Sh 2EMEEDRHEERZOTIT

BHEE
REMBRREEARRNEKE AR
([ ANEE ) RBE2019F3A31H
IFFE2HBEHRK - HBAR/ARA
EESRAZEN - AER(BRER
HEE) WARBEBB2EKRET X
BMEAXBEDSHIRES <A &0
H BERENTEERKESTRINZE
BRALH AIAREERAZE B ZE
RNARE T AEEESHREN A
BRIRE) 2 HER)

WARPEZRKMEER ZWRE T
SRIBOUENEN BB AIFFEA
RAYEIRET B ERNE  K&E
SERMAEBEELER 83

(a) EZFERETHMREREALZ
BRILHE

(b) TEEMAKNTHRELEZEN @ K&
(c) NEBRERLBEERTRE-

BB A ) 2 B 7 ¥Rk Ty iR AR A ) AR R R
TR B G BREE - HELQF
ZEBDEARERSEHE 2 BET
NEG YHEMAGHEBE BEET
BHAEH AL -

HEAKERERRERZBEMIMAS
BREERAE #m WA FEXRR
TREVNEGRE IR A RS H-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT SR R it =
Year ended 31 March 2019 #Z£2019F3A31H L FE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 RBEE(E)

66

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (a) the fair value of the
consideration received, (b) the fair value of any investment
retained and (c) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

BHEE(E)

i = B RIS R BN EXXPril 2 = TRYE ]
ARz -—BXZELAES ~EEE
B ER SRR ERE - RK
LRt ZMBRRMARERESA

fief 7S 62 [ 2% 25 — ] I JB % ) 2 22 Wl 4 -
AR EERO)ZMNB AR ZEE(R
EEE) MEE - (AR RR S
Z BT B R (i) R #E 28 D8k 2 RIRIE N
Z8 0 LER (IR EZRFE (b)
PIRB AR E 2 A FENM(C)IBETRE
] R EE A 2 B RS BT 1B © JE AT I E At
EEKE AR ARBERIGADEE
MoBABERIREBEMN(ER) %
BnAKECERLERBEEERAR

same basis as would be required if the Group had directly e 2 EETUAMER
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 B8RS REE

REBEBDRAFHEA VB HRERERERSR
ATRER] M HERT BB B H5 s 2B R o

Amendments to Classification and Measurement of Share-based BAUBRELER  SBERIAEURNAE
HKFRS 2 Payment Transactions R ZEFAR B IHK 5
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with BAUBRERER  RABBUEHREER
HKFRS 4 HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts BAFE BTN FAFREE A —
HERABEHBHE
ERIZE 9%
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments AN HRELR BT A
F9%
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers BEAUBRELL  EPAHIMA
F155%
Amendments to Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from BAUBRERR  EEEBUBHEER
HKFRS 15 Contracts with Customers ERLL AL TV FEIREFAHZ
YA
Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property BEEQITERFEI0N BREREYE
HKAS 40 ZIERTR
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance A (BRETH% INERXZRENAE
Consideration HERELZES)
-RREE2%
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28 2014F 220164 BEEMBRELED
2014-2016 Cycle B FRE# FIRREBEEGHE

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, the adoption of the above new
and revised standards has had no significant financial
effect on these financial statements.

Ulferts International Limited EX{k B & R/ &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 755 S e B

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, bringing together
all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments:
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting. The Group has adopted HKFRS 9 from 1 April
2018 and recognised any transition adjustments against the
applicable opening balances in equity at 1 April 2018.
Therefore, the comparative information was not restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 39.

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of adopting
HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial position.

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under HKAS
39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as at 1 April
2018 is as follows:

22 BT BRBHRKEE)

ERAMEREEANFRLSATA
EBMBEREENFESRERTARRE
B ERIFEIR T/ T A - R KA
B -HEAHeRmT AErrEENE =E
HEBIoE NS RENME SRR
B AREEE H2018F4A1B B RAF
78 B 75 R 5 AE RSB 05k R ¥ 1A 20184F 4 B
18R BRBRYEHRERRERE -
At - L E R A EY] B BERIES
BEETERIEIFRTE R R -

TEREE

TIEMEI AT B B RE RS
IRBH AR KT E o

RIFFB ST ERIFIR T EMNREE
EN2018F4 A1 B RBEFBM 5 E £
AIFE SR ZMM G R RRERRIAT ¢

HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
measurement measurement
EBEHER BB R EER
FI9EETE R E
Category Amount Amount Category
Ll &% 5 Ll
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT
Financial assets SREE
Trade receivables 2 5 ENFIE L&R! 6,263 6,263 AC?
Financial assets included in FABRFE RER
prepayments, deposits and other  E A FEKFIAR
receivables PREE L&R 19,840 19,840 AC
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEERR L&R 83,385 83,385 AC
109,488 109,488
Financial liabilities tREE
Trade and bills payables BHRNFERENEE AC 7,076 7,076 AC
Financial liabilities included in other & A £ ft B FE &
payables and accruals ErERNERERE (i) AC 8,053 8,053 AC
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B B3R{TEH AC 19,798 19,798
34,927 34,927

! L&R: Loans and receivables
2 AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost

Note:

(i) The gross carrying amount of financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals under the column “HKAS 39
measurement — Amount” represents the amount after
adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15. Further details of
the adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15 are included
below.

T LARER R BN IR
2 %?jﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁzﬁﬁéﬁ’\]@%ﬂﬁéiﬁﬁﬁ

W -

(i) [EEBSFTERFEIRTE-2/E | —
BT ARMENKIBENEFERNE
BEENDEEENRDABERRM
BREVBREE1RHRRNEE-H
RARME BN BRELAE15RORE
HEHINOT -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Impairment

The Group has determined that the adoption of HKFRS 9
did not have a significant impact on the impairment
assessment of its financial assets at 1 April 2018 (including
the effect of replacing HKAS 39’s incurred credit loss
calculations with HKFRS 9’s expected credit losses
(“ECLs")) and, accordingly, did not result in any transition
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits of the
Group as at 1 April 2018.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related
interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset and
liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The relevant disclosures are
included in note 5 to the financial statements. As a result of
the application of HKFRS 15, the Group has changed the
accounting policy with respect to revenue recognition in
note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method, the
standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date
of initial application or only to contracts that are not
completed at that date. The Group has elected to apply the
standard to contracts that are not completed as at 1 April
2018.

Ulferts International Limited EX{k B & R/ &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 755 S e B

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

No adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits of
the Group as at 1 April 2018 is required for the cumulative
effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15. The
comparative information was not restated and continues to
be reported under HKAS 18 and related interpretations.

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 1 April 2018 as a
result of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

22 BT BRBHRKEE)

ERMBREERNFISEEFANZHN
A&

MYAE A BBV B R EERF 1558
Rt EME  BANASEER2018F
ARTRREB BB ESRIEL AR -
L ER W ABY BSBHEREESS
FrERE185 RAEREE R -

LA #5174 2018F4 A1 B M E B
BREEAFISHRI I E 2 ST R
REBZEE

Increase/(decrease)
&0,/ Ok 2)
HK$’000
FHET
Liabilities =L
Deferred revenue included in other FTAE AR RIE R R E
payables and accruals ZIREU A (i) (277)
Customer deposits included in other T AE A A RRIB K& e R B A
payables and accruals IEFES () (16,293)
Contract liabilities included in other FTAE MR RIE R EETE A
payables and accruals ZEHaE (i) 16,570
Net impact on other payables H e RIE KRBT B A
and accruals ZIRRE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

70

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no impact on the
Group’s profit or loss and other comprehensive income or
on the Group’s operating, investing and financing cash
flows for the year. Set out below are the amounts by which
each consolidated statement of financial position line item
was affected as at 31 March 2019 as a result of the
adoption of HKFRS 15. The first column shows the amounts
recorded under HKFRS 15 and the second column shows
what the amounts would have been had HKFRS 15 not been
adopted:

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2019:

FEAE MR A &

Deferred revenue included

22 BT BRBHRKEE)

Note
Ffi 5E

BB BRELNFISEFLFANZK
A&

RME B EHREERFE1GRE AEE
ZAFEBREREMEERARAEES
ZEEBE RERBERSREYEY
2o P\ T H 520193 831 8 E 4
BB RELRNEISEMI T EZ
BIRAUBHRRREBEZERE - FE—
BRBIBEE B EHREERFE 155508k
MERE F_WBRARRET BT ER
ARG5S ¢

R2019%F3A31B 258 MR K ¢

Amounts prepared under
RIB T 5% IR RSB
x|
Previous
HKFRS

BIE
BB

RE R

R =~
HK$'000
TET

Increase/

HKFRS 15 (decrease)

EBMERE
ZEBIZE155%
HK$'000
FAT

0,
ORA)
HK$'000
FET

in other payables and accruals JEETE A ZREWRA (i) - 317 (317)
Customer deposits included in FTAE R R0IE K

other payables and accruals EFERcEPZE (i) - 22,287 (22,287)
Contract liabilities included S AH AR IR R

in other payables and accruals JEETBR 2 A4EE () 22,604 - 22,604
Net impact on other payables H R RIERERTE A

and accruals EE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L ECEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

The nature of the adjustments as at 1 April 2018 and the
reason for the changes in the statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2019 are described below:

Note:
(i) Consideration received from customers in advance

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognised
consideration received from customers in advance as
customer deposits and deferred revenue, which were
included in other payables and accruals. Under HKFRS 15,
the amounts are classified as contract liabilities, which are
included in other payables and accruals.

Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group reclassified
HK$277,000 and HK$16,293,000 from deferred revenue and
customer deposits, respectively, to contract liabilities as at 1
April 2018 in relation to the consideration received from
customers in advance as at 1 April 2018.

As at 31 March 2019, under HKFRS 15, HK$317,000 and
HK$22,287,000 were reclassified from deferred revenue and
customer deposits, respectively, to contract liabilities in
relation to the consideration received from customers in
advance.

22 BT BRBHRKEE)

ERMKBRELEQFISREFSHZK
A&

R2018F4A1H o ABME U KR
20193 318 2 4R & B ik R &k &
EREMmT

GEX

(i)

BREFAE

KRBT B B 15 S RIS 155881 -
SESBRUEFPRERAAEPEEN
BN FEAEMEN SRR EE B
R REBEBEBMBERELENEISH %
SEOIBR/ANAE FARMENK
BERERTEM -

It AR E VS B 75 3RS X B S5 1558
1% REEBN2018F4 A1 ZTERE
F R & % 5l 277,000 1T &
16,293,000 TEBELEWAREFiES
EFHDBEERN2018F4A1B ZANE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EEMERRERMZE B
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING mEZER
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

AEBWY RNZEMBHRRPEAIAT
ERMERARER I REETES

these financial statements.

PR ERE LR

Amendments to Definition of a Business? BEMBHRELR  EBEITE?
HKFRS 3 LA HEN
Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative BEMBHRERER  ABBFEZIEIEN
HKFRS 9 Compensation’ FR BRI FE
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an BAMBRELR RELFHABENARK
HKFRS 10 and Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture* F10HREEES AREPEZANEAE
HKAS 28 (2011) AT AR 285 HE 3T A
(ZF—%F)
ZIEETAR
HKFRS 16 Leases’ BEEMBHREEN HE
F165%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® BAUBHRELR  RRARP
F175

Amendments to

Definition of Material?

BRGTEAE IR

BAZER?

HKAS 1 R G ERE8N
and HKAS 8 PACHIE
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’ ARG RAFE19R AL HIASEE
HKAS 19 IR
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint ARG RAIFERT HEAARGELEZ
HKAS 28 Ventures' BRI REER
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments' BE(BREUBRE FEHEENTEES
ZEZE9)
REFE235
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 —T-hFZE AU WELER
2015-2017 Cycle and HKAS 23' —F—tFAH F3% - BB
L ERNH HERERE

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

5% - BB ET AR
ER Pl NE S
sHERIFE 2357 2
EH

! R2019F1 1B 22 F M 2 F/E 5

A AR

2 JR2020F1A1HE 2 2 FHh 2 FE B

2020 AR
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 8 R2021F1A1ES 2 BRI 2 FEH
2021 fE A2
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 4 RETESRTIAEM A ER - MDA B AY
adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H5 S R Bl =L

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact of
the above new and revised HKFRSs, further information
about those HKFRSs that are currently expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int
27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective
recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value
assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a
lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing
the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
(i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets
the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to
a class of property, plant and equipment to which the
revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease
liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
change in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires
lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard
using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach. The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019.
The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS
16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at 1 April
2019 and will not restate the comparatives.

23 EEMEMREMZERYE
WEER (&)
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—HERIT o
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HE BAE(FRRBZES)RER15
HFELHEEBRRBTB(EREEZE
Q)R BRI G E L HERERY
X GHAE - ZENEINEHHEE
R FE 2 RBEEZRA P ERK
AEANBEBABRLOHEEENRE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA TS S R B =L

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

In addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements
to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of
initial application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at
the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the
lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before the date of initial application. The Group
plans to use the exemptions allowed by the standard on
lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12 months as
of the date of initial application. During 2019, the Group has
performed a high-level assessment on the impact of
adoption of HKFRS 16. As disclosed in note 25 to the
financial statements, at 31 March 2019, the Group had
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in aggregate of approximately
HK$89,481,000. The Group currently is still assessing
whether, upon adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts
included therein will need to be recognised as new right
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further detailed
analysis, however, will be needed to determine the amount
of new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to be
recognised, including, but not limited to any amounts
relating to leases of low value assets and short term leases,
and other practical expedients and reliefs chosen.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA TS SRR B EE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the
nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2020. The Group currently is still assessing whether
the amendments will have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS
12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to
interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax
treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i)
whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii)
how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates;
and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use of
hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the
date of initial application, without the restatement of
comparative information. The Group expects to adopt the
interpretation from 1 April 2019. The Group currently is still
assessing whether the interpretation will have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

Ulferts International Limited EX{k B & R/ &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 755 S e B

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii

=

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii)the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2019 #Z£2019F3A31H L FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EASHBEHEE)

78

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the lease terms
20% — 33'/3%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT iR R Bt RE
Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£2)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’'s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS
15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£Z)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 April 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets (policies under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and receivables. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in profit or loss. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT iR R Bt RE
Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£2)

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT iR R Bt RE
Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£2)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£Z)

84

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of the reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on
the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT iR R Bt RE
Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£2)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is
later recovered, the recovery is credited to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April
2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£Z)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 April 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less any estimated costs to be incurred in the process of
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it
is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£2)
POLICIES (Continued)
Provisions (continued) BiE(E

A provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when a
contractual obligation under the terms of an operating lease
has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the end of the
lease. Reinstatement costs are provided at the value of the
expected costs to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period using estimated cash flows and an
equivalent asset is recognised and depreciated over the
term of the operating lease. The estimated future costs of
reinstatement are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of the reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£Z)
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (continued) Frie®i(4&)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT iR R Bt RE
Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£2)

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£Z)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

e Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally upon delivery of the goods.

e Consultancy service arrangements

Revenue from consultancy service arrangements is
recognised over time, using an output method to
measure the Group’s progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant services, because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group, as the Group performs.
The output method recognises revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract.

Other income

Other service income is recognised over time, using an
output method to measure the Group’s progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant services.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 April 2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of services, when the relevant
services have been rendered; and

Ulferts International Limited EX{k B & R/ &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EAEHHEME(£2)

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 April 2018)
(continued)

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 April 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due)
from the customer. If a customer pays the consideration
before the Group transfers goods or services to the
customer, a contract liability is recognised when the
payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates an occupational retirement scheme
registered under the Hong Kong Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the scheme. This scheme has been granted
exemption under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. When an employee leaves the scheme
before his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
employer’s contributions.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

Contributions to these schemes are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets of
these schemes are held separately from those of the Group
in independently administered funds.
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company's functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Ulferts International Limited EX{k B & R/ &
Annual Report 2018/2019 £k

24 EREHBRBE(E)

=)
REIB B R BCREBR A S LR
RBAE-

RAARBE 2 BEERAMA N ARREE
FERTHRE P HARERNEEZR
ZRABEIK. FAit PHKENEZER
EREARERSAE

SN

MBHmERAETITZES) BTTAIARR 2
N ER - AEEAN S ERRTEEY
EERHESER MR AAEIER
WeEERTE - AEBRERMCE L
SNERZ BB ERR Z B2 IRITIRE
B zEXRME AR - AINEHEZE
BEELAR HAMMERER®RE
HIRZEXHKE NEENMETHER
BmER BN E RN BEMER -

WESL A AINE ST E 2 FFRHIRE -
RRVZRXZEMZEXRBE -

REEVNISEAMABEE FAXHBA
R ILEREBNNERMNIEEEE
EXFEEREMBNERE 15
AR AEENSERANKEESL
MIFEBEESFERABERD WA
&% BFAN PR B FR - B AN
BABES AN HIEIMBENRENHT
VLR

ERGETHE R G5

RAEAKEEYHHRREG EEEFEE
EREPRA HAX BEENABEER
TRNMEEARBEARKARABEREZ
HE - EETRRE - ZFRERMERZ
THREUAEREREEREARITEZE
ESBBERMEFELERAE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT iR R Bt RE
Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. EASHHE R (E)

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of the
reporting period. Non-financial assets with finite useful lives
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Provisions for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provisions for reinstatement costs associated
with certain leased properties under operating leases attributable
to the Group based on the estimates of the expected costs to be
incurred to settle the relevant contractual obligations under the
terms of the leases at the end of the reporting period, which are
subject to uncertainties and might differ from the actual costs to
be incurred. Significant judgements and estimates are required,
including, inter alia, making various assumptions with reference
to past experience and available information to determine the
expected costs to be incurred. Further details are included in
note 20 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value of
inventories to determine whether any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value is required. In estimating the net realisable
value of inventories, the Group considers, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and condition of inventories, pricing policy and strategies,
current market condition and other relevant factors. Based on
such assessment, write-down of inventories will be made when
the carrying amounts of inventories decline below their estimated
net realisable value. Due to changes in market and economic
environment and customers’ preference, actual saleability of
inventories and actual selling prices that could be realised might
be different from the original estimation and profit or loss could
be affected by differences in these estimations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. As appropriate, the Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate
over the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group principally focuses on the retail and wholesale of
imported furniture, and special projects. Information
reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker, for
the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the Group
as a whole as the Group’s resources are integrated and no
discrete operating segment information is available.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is
presented.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers
Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from external
customers during the years ended 31 March 2019 and
2018 were attributed to Hong Kong based on the
location of the customers or the location of certain key
processes/resources from which the Group derived the
revenues.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REDFER ()
(Continued)
Geographical information (continued) HEER(E)
(b) Non-current assets (b) FREBEE
All of the Group’s non-current assets as at the end of REBRBERRIERDEER
the reporting period were located in Hong Kong based BEMBRUEZHHAMREE-
on the location of the assets.
Information about major customers EEFXEEFZER
No revenues from transactions with a single external B E20199F 2018 3H31H IEFE -
customer for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 MEREE-INBEFPRH ZWAGER
amounted to 10% or more of the total revenues of the EEBUKAI0%IIA L o
Group.
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA HttA RS
An analysis of revenue from contracts with customers under BBV BRELEAFISHRETZEFPE
HKFRS 15 (2018: revenue under previous HKFRS) is as AW A (20185 - BAB BT BIRELE
follows: AIIETZB/A) 2T :

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR

(under (under

HKFRS 15) previous HKFRS)
(REEEHE (RIEBBEEE
WEAERE159)  BEREELN)

Retail of furniture FEMEE 226,795 239,298
Wholesale of furniture RFAHE S 11,777 12,212
Special projects — project sales and THRIEE-HEHER
consultancy service arrangements 8 R AR 7S = BE 4,387 7,043
242,959 258,553
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHWA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) #HDUAEH
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZ2019F3A31BLFE
HK$’'000
FHET
Type of goods or services EmEREER
Sale of goods 5 ZE o 242879
Consultancy service arrangements B IRTE L HE 80
Total revenue from contracts with customers B A XK AEEE 242,959
Ulferts International Limited EX{L BEIFEH R/ & 95
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019

5. WA HtBARKES(E)

BEFEHWAGE

(V)

BT WAER(E)
B E2019F3A31HILLFE

HK$'000
TR

Timing of revenue recognition WA 7 32 B

At a point in time R — R 242,879
Services transferred over time BER E8E S 2 IRTS 80
Total revenue from contracts with customers BEAHWMAEER 242,959

The amount of revenue recognised in the current
reporting period that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period
amounted to HK$16,195,000.

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is generally satisfied upon
delivery of goods. For retail sale of furniture, payment
in advance and/or upon delivery by customers are
normally required. For wholesale of furniture, payment
is generally due within 30 to 60 days from the date of
billing. For project sales, payment is generally due
pbased on terms agreed by relevant parties as set out in
respective agreements.

Consultancy service arrangements

The performance obligation is generally satisfied over
time as services are rendered and payment is generally
due based on terms agreed by the relevant parties as
set out in respective agreements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 755 S e B

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

The Group generated revenues from certain projects for the
supply of custom-made furniture and other related products
and services (“project sales”) and arrangements involving
the supply of custom-made furniture and related products
and services by external furniture suppliers to certain fellow
subsidiaries (“consultancy service arrangements”). During
the year, the Group’s total revenue from consultancy service
arrangements amounted to approximately HK$80,000 (2018:
HK$2,227,000).

The Group entered into several contractual agreements with
certain third parties for the supply of custom-made furniture
and related services, pursuant to which, the Group directly/
indirectly delivered such goods and services to certain
fellow subsidiaries and, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, these are special project arrangements involving
the fellow subsidiaries. During the year, the Group
recognised project sales revenues of approximately
HK$336,000 (2018: HK$1,346,000) under such

5. WA - bl AR s (A&

AEBEHHETZEMEEMERER
MR ([1E B $HE |) AR RN R R
e A TR XK B AR ERT &R
MR EBERERY 2 2B ([ ARG
ZHENDZAETEERRERUKA-FA -
AEERERBHARBZHE WAL
73 Bl /80,0008 7T (20184 : 2,227,000
PETT)°

AEBEETEZIREEZSITHER
MEEEARKITLZHDEHNLHE &
I AEEEE BEINZEERR
RBETFETRRMBAR MARRE
ERE ZELTHNFRRARK BRG]
ZIREELZHE -FR AEEREZ
LLBEMERRIA B #HE WA 4336,0007
7t(2018%F : 1,346,000/ 7T ) °

arrangements.
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Other income and gains H AR
Other service income H b BRASUA 1,080 707
Rental income Ha A 1,181 -
Provision for reinstatement costs-reversal BB R AN R E) PR R 1
of unutilised provisions/decrease in BB R B E R
estimated provisions 215 -
Bank interest income RIT R EUA 782 240
Others HAb 317 488
3,575 1,435

6. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on bank borrowings

6. FFFERIA

2019
ZE-NF

HK$'000
TET

IRITIERZFE 240

2018
—B-N\F
HK$'000
TBT

283
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98

7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7. BR¥ AR
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after REBEBRTB AR, (E8) B Mk (5
charging/(crediting): A)FAIRIE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cost of inventories sold and services EHEFERARE
provided RHRBEKA 89,985 94,706
Net write-down/(reversal of write-down)  #UEFE, (HMEFS
of inventories to net realisable value 2R FREE B FE 710 (75)
Total amount recognised EHERRIEEK AR 25
as cost of sales 90,695 94,631
Auditor’s remuneration 2 BRI Bl < 1,030 930
Depreciation e 13 10,358 8,501
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of e M E - BB &
property, plant and equipment* REBE 2 EiEr 3 419
Reversal of impairment of other Hofh e W SR IE R B 2 B~
receivable* = (63)
Minimum lease payments under KEBEEE THREBAENK
operating leases 60,100 49,829
Contingent rents under operating KEHEE T SAES
leases 560 1,322
60,660 51,151
Employee benefit expense (excluding BEBANFAX(TEEES
directors’ and chief executive’s B (MI5E8) )
remuneration (note 8)):
Wages, salaries, bonuses and B Fre  JeALROERA
allowances 40,846 37,813
Pension scheme contributions (defined Wié Bl
contribution schemes) (FEEEMHEFRETED) 1,746 1,628
42,592 39,441
Foreign exchange differences, net EHEE FH (1,144) 177
*  The loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, plant and * BEMEYME BELREEE ZE
equipment and reversal of impairment of other receivables are 18 DA B2 Ho A JE WK IE R B 2 B B Th R A
included in “General and administrative expenses” in the GEBEmkAEMEEANRTAZ —K

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H5 S R Bl =L

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration of the Group
for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)
(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:

EERFETHAEME

R X FAES EHRA - BB QR
B12£383(1)(a) ~ (b) * (c) K (f)fRA K &
NABRBEEENEER)ROIFE28
BRERNFALRESEEERTIBZITHRAE

e

Fees e 1,140 223
Other emoluments: Emie
Salaries, allowances e EBRRBIBIEA
and discretionary bonuses 3,956 4,597
Pension scheme contributions (defined RIS
contribution schemes) (TEEMHEFRETED) 36 36
3,992 4,633
5,132 4,856

(a) Independent non-executive directors

During the prior year, Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
and Ms. Chan Yee Man were appointed as independent
non-executive directors of the Company on 8 January
2018.

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

(a) BAFHTES
EFRN -HEBTFLE BERELE
KE&aE+2018F1 A8HES
EARARZIBIIEHITES -

FA BNBYIFRTESTZ2ES
LI

2019 2018

—F-NEF s

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Ng Hoi Yue hET 180 41
Chiu Kin Fai A= 180 41
Chan Yee Man PR 47 52 180 41
540 123

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2018: Nil).

FERNVEREMNBIERNTEEZH
L EEN (20184 « 4E)-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERFEMTHAEME (&
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) BITESRETETHAER

Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
discretionary scheme Total

Fees bonuses contributions remuneration
e 28 RikE

e  REBBR4A HEEN HeBsE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TART TAT TAT
2019 20195
Executive director and the chief ~ H{TEER
executive: FTBTHAS -
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky R oA 150 2,490 18 2,658
Executive directors: WTES:
Wong Chi Fai ELE 150 - - 150
Mok Fung Lin, vy BEE 150 1,466 18 1,634
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa BEE 150 - - 150
600 3,956 36 4,592
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
discretionary scheme Total
Fees bonuses contributions remuneration
e 28 Bk
e  REBBREA BES Wemzm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAT TER TET
2018 20185
Executive director and the chief ~ BITEZR
executive: TBIHAE
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky R 25 2,780 18 2,823
Executive directors: HITEE:
Wong Chi Fai LA 25 - - 25
Mok Fung Lin, vy EEE 25 1,817 18 1,860
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SBEUE 25 - - 25
100 4,597 36 4,733
There was no arrangement under which a director or FABEZESIHETETHRAER
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any YEAT 7 22 BE D EE ok [R) B pEE A (] B
remuneration during the year. & e

I 00 Ulferts International Limited EX{L BB E R 7
Annual Report 2018/2019 £k



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 755 S e B

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two directors (2018: two directors), details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2018:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and e R NEEIEA

LEREHESR

FR AEERERSFEEREMS
BH(2018F MBEE) HM&F1B
B ECIFES - Hfp =4 (20185F : =
BIWIEARBEEXIEETETHAR
2EREFEENRFAZHMEFBOT

2019
—F-NE

2018
—ZE-N\F
HK$'000
TR

HK$'000
FTET

discretionary bonuses 2,859 3,169
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFTEIHE R 143 147
3,002 3,316

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

MEETIBENZIFESTRIFEETT
BABZGE=SHEEABMT :

Number of employees

BEAZ

2019
—E-hEF

2018
—E-N\F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,0007% 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7c % 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
3 3

During the year, no emolument was paid or payable by the
Group to the non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for the loss of office (2018:
Nil).

FRNAEEVERFEERIEETET
BABZE&ESEHMES sk E R
& fEAR S| I A KRE B SR INAK
SE1% 2 B SRR AR E (20184 : £)-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

10. INCOME TAX 10. FT 5%

BAENNESHRIIRRNERNEETBEE 2
ST B AR B A 2 B 16.5% (20184 -
16.5% ) VEH B -

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year.

2019 2018
—EF-NEF —ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Current - Hong Kong BNER &5
Charge for the year FRZH 227 4,661
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBEREE (83) (125)
Deferred (note 21) R (FIEE21) (787) (467)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FAFBEL L (ER)B5E (643) 4,069

BEBEBAERER(RNR A MAEE A
DIREW B R R FAERDERR 2 EED
) EBEARBRBANGER,(EE) 2 B
AR B ASEERREFE ZHIA
X ER)EERIAT -

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to
profit/(loss) before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate
(statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company
and the majority of the Group’s operating subsidiaries are
domiciled) to the tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective
tax rate is as follows:

2019 AONKS]

=F-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FERT

Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATE R, (E518) (4,621) 12,546
Tax expense/(credit) at the Hong Kong RERBEERE16.5%tHE

statutory tax rate of 16.5% ZRIEFAL (HR) (762) 2,070

Adjustment in respect of current tax of BT B AN AR IR A B

previous periods (83) (125)
Income not subject to tax BEHB WA (167) (50)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 409 2,221
Others Hith (40) (47)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective IEAREBEERG R+E

tax rate ZREL W (ER) (643) 4,069

I1. DIVIDEND 1. RE

2019
—E-NEF

HK$'000
FEx

2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
T8

Interim — Nil (2018: HK$0.12) per ordinary ~ FHIIR B~ (20184 : B ER
share f%0.12% 1) - 72,000

AARBEETEZURAFEEIRME
A RHAPE B (20184E « )

The board of directors of the Company does not
recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year
(2018: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 755 S e B

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount for the
year ended 31 March 2019 is based on the loss for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of
HK$3,978,000 and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 800,000,000 in issue during the year.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for
the prior year is based on the profit for the prior year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of
HK$8,477,000 and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 633,972,603 in issue during the prior
year. In determining the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the prior year, the share
subdivision of the Company during the prior year was
deemed to have been completed on 1 April 2016.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share are based on:

12. FAREERESES ARG
SRER,(EHR)

AEEFRERNEBREBEFAT AT
TRk s A AL E 183,978,000
BLIMNFRNEBBRTETRBRMETFSIE
800,000,000/ 5% -

EFEREARBHIBRBEEFERAE
B A A B R 58,477,000 T
MEFEETLZRRMEFHH
633,972 603Kt E - NETFE RITER
RRINEFEE ARRRBEFED
B% 15 3 48 42 48 & B 1R2016F4 18 =
520

AEBEREE2019% K2018%3A31H
HEREYEABEHEERZERTE
AR -

THRBEAESRERNREERT,
(B18) 2 8k -

BR(E8)

Earnings/(loss)

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity & &R E A [ #5% 2 K i A

holders of the parent used in the basic
and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
calculations

= (E1R)

SRR EBRESEE ARA

(3,978) 8,477

& 2
AEERERK

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used
in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss)
per share calculations

Number of shares
B
2019
—E-NF

2018
—E-N\E

R,/ (BEMAZ
FASHITEBBRINEFHE

800,000,000 633,972,603"

*

As adjusted retrospectively to reflect the share subdivision of
the Company during the prior year

Y KBEPHBARRARRBRREFETZ
Bt #F AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 9% - BERRKE

Furniture,
Leasehold  fixtures and Motor
improvements  equipment vehicles Total

e  &W-RE
NEEE FE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET TET

31 March 2019 2019%3A31H

At 31 March 2018 and at 1 April 2018: 7201838318 )

R201854 1R :

Cost A 51,087 12,536 2,198 65,821

Accumulated depreciation REHE (34,883) (11,731) (1,828) (48,442)

Net carrying amount EEFE 16,204 805 370 17,379
At 1 April 2018, net of R2018F4H18 -

accumulated depreciation MR EFHIE 16,204 805 370 17,379
Additions NE 22,742 1,066 - 23,808
Disposal/write-off HE /i = 3) - ®3)
Depreciation provided during the year —~ FRITEE & (9,875) (401) (82) (10,358)
At 31 March 2019, net of M2019%3A318

accumulated depreciation Mk E5HTE 29,071 1,467 288 30,826
At 31 March 2019: M2019%3A31A

Cost B%N 72,259 13,588 2,198 88,045

Accumulated depreciation ZEME (43,188) (12,121) (1,910) (57,219)

Net carrying amount EEFE 29,071 1,467 288 30,826
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 755 S e B

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% -BMERRE(E)
(Continued)
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE B £E
M k& AE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TET BT THT
31 March 2018 2018%3A31H
At 1 April 2017: 201754718 ¢
Cost YR 44 684 12,223 2,077 58,984
Accumulated depreciation 2FE (32,489) (11,813) (2,035) (46,337)
Net carrying amount EEFE 12,195 410 42 12,647
At 1 April 2017, net of accumulated R2017464 /18 -
depreciation MR 25T E 12,195 410 42 12,647
Additions e 12,754 611 411 13,776
Disposalfwrite-off HE /i (536) 7) - (543)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FRMERE (8,209) (209) (83) (8,501)
At 31 March 2018, net of accumulated 7201834318 -
depreciation Nk EE 16,204 805 370 17,379
At 31 March 2018: R2018F3A31A
Cost YR 51,087 12,536 2,198 65,821
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (34,883) (11,731) (1,828) (48,442)
Net carrying amount EEEE 16,204 805 370 17,379
14. INVENTORIES 14. 78
2019 2018
—E-NF —Z-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
Goods held for sale BEREE R 46,326 44,226
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT R R =
Year ended 31 March 2019 #Z£2019F3A31H L FE

15. TRADE RECEIVABLES I15. E5 BIRFIE

Trade receivables B 5 W EIE

2019 2018
—E-NF

—E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER T

9,404 6,263

The Group’s retail sales are usually paid in cash or by major
credit/debit cards, with the settlement from the
corresponding banks or other financial institutions normally
within 7 to 30 days. The Group’s trading terms with its
wholesale, project and consultancy service customers are
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance and/or upon delivery is normally required. The
credit period for these customers is generally one to two
months, extending up to six months for major project and
consultancy service customers, or based on terms agreed
by the relevant parties as set out in respective agreements.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and overdue balances are
reviewed by senior management. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

AEBzTEHEBEURS AN
TEFEAR/MEREAIZN  ERIR
THEMEMEEARTEN7TE0ENR
BE - AEEEASLHEF, HAEP
NEARBEFP ZESGREBRIAE
ENAER EREP—RIBATAR
BNE/IRENRTAEE - ZEE
FzEEH-—RAE—ZMEAH AIRE
EMNHEBEFPLFEARBEFREZLER
ENE A SRR R 5 RIR S Wk 317
EZHR - REB N REREHE KB
B2 REFE YhesREEEENE
HIEE R - RE B EpL B B 5 EUGKIR
EHRFATMERRREMERRENE
B o B B RWFIAR TR

RMEBR NEBE ZHRKFIERE
ERMZREDTAOT

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FETT THETT

Within 1 month —EAR 8,266 3,713
1 to 3 months —Z==@A 974 2,409
Over 3 months ={EAAKE 164 141
9,404 6,263

Included in the Group’s trade receivables is an amount due
from a fellow subsidiary of approximately HK$98,000 as at
31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

Ulferts International Limited EX{L BB E R 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT iR R Bt RE
Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

15. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) I1I5. EZ EWRFIE(E)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March
2019

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments. The calculation
reflects information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions, as appropriate. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one
year and are not subject to enforcement activity. Based on
an impairment analysis performed at the end of the
reporting period, the expected credit loss as at 31 March
2019 is considered by management to be minimal.

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 March
2018

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31 March
2018 that were not individually nor collectively considered
to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows:

BE2019F3A3IA L EEREFTBH
IR EERFEH ZHE

REFHRE QAL FE AR EEEETRE
DT AT ERHEEEE BHXTD
ERpZEARF D EETHE B E R
HEGE ZtERBANHREBEAF
MEBBESMH BN ERRLEEMRR
TERA(IEE)MNER . —KiE ' WE
AR — F MWW ] R B 1T)E 8 - 8
WiHE S R UWGRIE - IRIB R W45 B R
ITHRE D T R2019F3A31BH M &
HEEBREEEER AR -

B ZE2018F3A31BLtEERBEE LS
TR 395 2R E

R2018F3A31H  IRIEB A ST 28|
FI95 AR E B K ERBIERENE S
FEW R IEBR B D AT S PN T

HK$’000

FHT

Neither past due nor impaired BL3E @ BR TR R (B 5,674
Less than 1 month past due wHEL R —E A 137
1 to 3 months past due wmH—Z=={@A 263
Over 3 months past due o HAER R — (E A 189
6,263

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a number of customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to
a number of customers that had a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company were of the opinion that no provision for
impairment under HKAS 39 was necessary in respect of
these balances as at 31 March 2018 as there had not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances were
then still considered fully recoverable.

BEOFE A TR SR (E 2 R WK IR B % 4 &%
B RSk B AR

BB ERE 2 BFKIBTIEZ Z R0
AEBERFRHRIEFLAB - AN E
BEEEWESKEHREBRE DTS
A2 E  BIEBALER  AQF
EERABBRETEGHERNFEIRTA
PIR2018F3A31HMZE LS 1EL R
B
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

16. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 16. BIIFIE - IHE R H AU
RECEIVABLES
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBxT FHET
Prepayments TERTIB 1,861 2,683
Deposits and other receivables Re K H At FE YR 22,124 20,370
23,985 23,053
Impairment allowance BER A - (115)
23,985 22,938
Less: Non-current portion B IEmEE S (15,009) (11,361)
Current portion mENE 8,976 11,577
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of HEi IR R EEBERE 2 EEET
other receivables are as follows: W
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHx FHET
At beginning of year REH] (115) (115)
Amount written off as uncollectible Mg Al e SR 115 -
At end of year RER = (115)
Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31 March 20198, £2019F3A31H L FERES
2019 BB REZEREIR ZRE
None of the financial assets included in the above balances MR2019F3A31HFT A L EsrA 2 &
is either past due or impaired as at 31 March 2019. The B0 & 2 A e HA T AROR (B - qu)\_tL &
financial assets included in the above balances relate to BRAZERMEERGII BRI IE
deposits and other receivables for which there was no WHRIEE@ - KR E2EEH
recent history of default. Their recoverability was assessed ABEE MR T - 2201943 A 31
with reference to the credit status of the debtors, and the AMEREEEBHEEER AR/ -

expected credit loss as at 31 March 2019 is considered by
management to be minimal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT iR R Bt RE
Year ended 31 March 2019 #£2019F3A31H L FE

16. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 16. FEFFIE - &R EMEWRRIE

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31 March
2018

Included in the above provision for impairment, which was
measured based on incurred credit losses under HKAS 39,
as at 31 March 2018 was a provision for an other receivable
of approximately HK$115,000, with a carrying amount
before provision of approximately HK$115,000. The
individually impaired other receivable as at 31 March 2018
related to a debtor that was in default in payments and the
balance was then not expected to be recovered.

Except for the above, the remaining balances were neither
past due nor impaired. The financial assets included in the
above balances relate to deposits and other receivables for
which there was then no recent history of default.

(&

B Z2018F3A31HLEEREE RS
TR 5395 2Rl E

R2018F3A31H Ll iRBEEF S Gt
#REIRIB NIZEEAEEEIETE
ZREBEBIE4115,0008 T2 H i
JEWHIE REBEEAMZEEEN A
115,000/ 7T ° 2201843 A318 » @R
EREZESEWZEEDHERNRZ
EABR BZEHRERFEHTTUYK
@ °

B £ SRt SN - A5 SR BR FE 78 5 7 AR
Bt ALMEHA L S FEE BRI
B RER IR MAMERTIRAR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

I7. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 17. EZRAFRERENREE
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the RI|EBR B HREMNRIELENER
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as REZAHZRERITAT
follows:

Within 1 month —fEAR 6,699 6,891
1 to 3 months —Z==18A 204 70
Over 3 months ={EAUE 387 115
7,290 7,076
The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and ERNRIENENEBRTFER—
are normally settled on 60-day to 120-day terms. RZBERG0H =120 R4S ©
The Group’s trade and bills payables include amounts AEEEFENRERENREBEN
denominated in the following foreign currencies: THISNEEHE 2 B

United States dollar (“US$”) EUE D) 457 450
Euro (“EUR”) BT ([BoT)) 6,033 6,344
6,490 6,794

18. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 18. Hth BT RIER BT EH
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FHET T
Other payables and accruals Htb BT FIE R ERHE A (a) 20,543 12,049
Contract liabilities AEHEE (b) 22,604 -
Deferred revenue IRIEHA (c) = 277
Customer deposits BPES - 16,293
43,147 28,619
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H5 S R Bl =L

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

18. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Included in the Group's other payables and accruals is an
amount due to a fellow subsidiary of approximately
HK$6,992,000 as at 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$1,626,000)
which is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and has no fixed
terms of repayment. Except for the above, other payables are
non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one month.

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 1 April
2018 are as follows:

Consideration received from customers CWEFBNRE

18. Htt BN RERETEA (&)

fi i -

(a) F201943A31HERRE ZMH B A AR
TE 496,992,000/ 7L (20184F : 1,626,000
BIL) T AR S B H A EN FUB M BT E
BeSREaEgm 2 NEETE
@Hﬂﬁﬁ hLL%&I\'EW’EH RIE B R
B FHHRAe—EA

(b) #20199F3H31H NM2018F4H1H &
HeBEZFBEYIAT

31 March 2019 1 April 2018
=E-NEF —F-N\F

=A=+—H mAE—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FiE T

in advance
Sale of goods HEEY 22,287 16,293
Sale of gift vouchers HEE S 317 277
Total contract liabilities AHBEBRE 22,604 16,570

Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance
of the delivery of goods and for sale of gift vouchers. The
increase in contract liabilities in the current year was mainly
due to the increase in consideration received from customers
in advance of the delivery of goods at the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred revenue at 31 March 2018 represented cash
received in advance from the sale of gift vouchers. In the prior
year, revenue was recognised and deferred revenue was
released to profit or loss when the gift vouchers were used by
end-customers.

19. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

Current BP AR
Bank borrowings repayable within one year R—FRHIZEREE
or on demand — unsecured RITER- TR

BHBERBEMXMNEYWIRNKE
&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ AEEEHNAREMEE
BRHREMREIRNEYME TP K
R BB AT -

(c) F2018%F3AH31H EITEW AIEEHE
BEERZIRE - NEF  WARKIE
BREFEBEFRER  MELEKRATTR
B 1825 -

19. s ERITER

g2

4,002 19,798
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
L EGEE

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

19. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

19. st EBITER(E)

112

(Continued)

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

REBZRITBEFATINEEE

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFE&T FE T

us$ ETT 375 487
EUR BT 3,627 13,311
HK$ BT - 6,000
4,002 19,798

As at 31 March 2019, the bank borrowings bore interest at
United States dollar/Euro prime lending rates as quoted by
the relevant banks or the higher of the following:

— United States dollar/Euro prime lending rates as quoted
by the relevant banks

— London Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.95% — 2.5%

— Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2.75%

As at 31 March 2019, the bank borrowings of the Group
with a total carrying amount of approximately HK$4,002,000
(2018: HK$19,798,000) containing a repayment on demand
clause have been classified in total as current liabilities. For
the purpose of the above analysis, the bank borrowings are
analysed into bank borrowings repayable within one year or
on demand.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$97,000,000 (2018:
HK$67,000,000), of which an aggregate amount of
HK$17,685,000 (2018: HK$32,811,000) was utilised as at 31
March 2019.

Dr. Albert Yeung, the Deemed Substantial Shareholder, had
provided personal guarantees (the“Personal Guarantees”)
for the Group’s banking facilities during the prior year up to
29 January 2018.

As agreed by the relevant banks, the Personal Guarantees
provided by Dr. Albert Yeung were replaced by guarantees
from the Company upon the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing”).
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R2019F3HA31H (R A £ B 4 A
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L) EBERERKEERAZAEER
TEREEERDEGERALE - L
MOMME  RITERDBR—FRNE
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42 %8 49 /97,000,000 JT(20184F :
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

20. PROVISIONS 20. &1E

Pursuant to the terms of relevant tenancy agreements, the
Group, as the lessee of certain properties under operating
leases, has the obligations to reinstate its leased properties
to their original state or to a condition as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements at the cost of the Group at
the end/upon the termination of the relevant lease terms.

REBEBHEBRGR AEEELSE
LHERNETMEZAHEARBRE
BRI BEECERER
MEZRRAEZTAHERZMREL
RS - B P AR [ A

Provisions for
reinstatement costs

BEE A
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FE T FTERT
At beginning of year REH] 5,301 3,975
Additional provisions FEINE 3,456 3,326
Amounts utilised during the year FACSRSHE (116) (2,000)

Reversal of unutilised amounts/decrease in KB & 8RR (Hat

estimated provisions BERD (215) -
At 31 March MR3A31H 8,426 5,301
Less: Non-current portion B ERBE D (6,827) (4,060)
Current portion mENER D 1,599 1,241

The provisions for reinstatement costs were determined
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by the
directors of the Company with reference to past experience
and available information. The assumptions and estimates
are reviewed, and revised where appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

EERNBEERBERNAREEZEH
EE R A AEREL 2 B MfEET M
BE ZEBRIXMGEAEIREET K
FERRF RER(ER) -

Ulferts International Limited EX{L EIFE B BR 2 &)

Annual Report 2018/2019 3R

113
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 2| BERIEEE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are RIETHIBEERFAZZEEHWT -
as follows:

Depreciation in

excess of
related
depreciation
allowance
L AE
MERE2INE
Note HK$'000
M= FHET
At 1 April 2017 201744818 1,214
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FTAFABE CIELERIE
during the year 10 467
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 20183 H31H K2018F4F1H 1,681
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FTAFRERE 2 IELERIE
during the year 10 787
At 31 March 2019 20193 H31H 2,468
22. SHARE CAPITAL 22. R
2018
—E-N\E
HK$'000
FHET
Issued and fully paid: BREITRERAR RN
800,000,000 (2018: 800,000,000) 800,000,0000% (20184F :
ordinary shares 800,000,000/% ) & 3@ % 110,337 110,337
A summary of movements in the Company's share capital is RANBZIRASFHEEST IO -
as follows:
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
ERTROHE [} &N
Notes HK$’'000
MiEE THET
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4 818 100 6,065
Additional shares from share subdivision R&{D #F40Fr 1S EEIMNR (D (a) 599,999,900 -
Issue of new shares BEITHARD (b) 200,000,000 112,000
799,999,900 112,000
Share issue expenses RHEITH = (7,728)
At 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 and R2018%F3H831H -
31 March 2019 2018F4 1B X
2019 3A31H 800,000,000 110,337

I I 4 Ulferts International Limited EX{L BB E R 7
Annual Report 2018/2019 £k



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 755 S e B

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

22. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to a written resolution of the sole shareholder of the
Company passed on 3 July 2017, every existing ordinary
share in the capital of the Company was subdivided into
6,000,000 shares, resulting in the subdivision of 100 ordinary
shares of the Company then in issue into 600,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company.

(b) In January 2018, 200,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company (the “Offer Shares”) were issued at a price of
HK$0.56 per share under a share offer in connection with the
Listing for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
HK$112,000,000.

23. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate
talented eligible participants to strive for future
developments and expansion of the Group.

(b) Eligibility

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include any director, including any executive or
independent non-executive director, any employee of
any member of the Group, any trustee of a trust whose
beneficiaries or objects include any employee or
business associate of the Group, any adviser or
consultant to the Group, any provider of goods and/or
services to the Group, or any other person who the
board of directors of the Company considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group.

(c) Maximum number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme unless approved by the
shareholders

(i) Total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme as at 27 June 2019 (i.e., the
date of the Company’s annual report for the year):
80,000,000 shares.

(i) Percentage of the issued shares of the Company
that it represents as at 27 June 2019: 10%.

22. RAR (&)
M3t

(a)

RIEA QB ME— R R2017F783H
BRZEBDRER ARRBRATZR
IR G & B B 4% 40 26,000,0008% B 17

LAAE100/ & Ky 2 B 817 @A I
40 £600,000,0000% 48 A &) & @ A% o

7201841 A » 200,000,000 % A A &) ¥t
L@ (SR DIRER EmmETT
2R EBEEMIZFIR0.5678 T2 (B EE
TRARENBAEIA) A
112,000,000/ 7T °

23. B RESTE

ZIN/N

AIR20184F 1 A8 B £ 4y —TH BE I

sHEI([EERERT S )

FBRUERT 8l 2 T B RFanT :

(a)

(b)

(c)

BRESTEZEN
KBRS BELABA A
BABR2EENRRIAEEZ
RIRE R MR

&
BRETSZAERSEERER
SEEAKRERARIZEMNES(E
RIERRITRBUIENTES )
EE ¥ AXBEREBEAEE
TR E R EXHHEANEENE
AEFEA + AEBEEAER XA
A AREBEFAE SR LR
HER  AARFEFTS2RNIE
RABAEEERERKATEEIEL
BRIZEMEMAL-

REBREFETTFRTZRE L
REE (BRIFBRRSTHUE)

(i) RIFEERETEI72019F6 A
27TH(A AR AR AFEFRA
)R FEBITZRHEEE -
80,000,0000% °

(iiy R2019F6H27HIE AR AL
BITRH 2B D  10% ©
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23. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant
under the Share Option Scheme

(i) not to exceed 1% of the shares in issue in any
12-month period unless approved by the
shareholders; and

(ii) options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors or their
respective associates in any 12-month period
exceeding 0.1% of the shares in issue and with a
value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be
approved by the shareholders.

(e) Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option

At any time during the option period in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme and such other
terms and conditions upon which an option was
granted from the date of grant of the option but in any
event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

(f) Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

No minimum period unless otherwise determined by the
board of directors.

(g) (i) Price payable on application or acceptance of
the option: HK$1.00;

(ii) The period within which payments or calls must
or may be made: Within 28 days from the date of
grant; and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of
the payments or calls must be repaid: Not
applicable.

(h) Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the board of directors
of the Company and will not be less than the higher of (a)
the closing price of the Company's shares on the date of
grant; and (b) the average closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant.

(i) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
Approximately 8.5 years (expiring on 7 January 2028).

No option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme since the adoption date of the Share Option
Scheme.
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

24. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, additional provisions for reinstatement
costs in respect of certain leased properties of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$3,456,000
(2018: HK$3,326,000) were recognised and these
amounts were recognised as part of the cost of related
property, plant and equipment of the Group and
reflected as additions to leasehold improvements of the
Group during the year.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

24.

mERTRERME

(a) TEXREXS
FN RAEEETHBWEME
M2 IEEKRAEELEIINEELD
3,456,000/ 7T (20184 : 3,326,000
BIT) BEFIERER AN EE R
WE- -BEREREBEXNA 2 —3H5H
ji#iﬁ%ﬁlJ?%Zﬁ%Z%ﬂEﬁ%%
f///J\\E°

(b) MEEFHELEREZEH

Bank
borrowings
RITER
HK$’000
TERT
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4A1H -
Changes from financing cash flows BmEReRECE 19,798
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R2018F3 A31H K2018F4H1H 19,798
Changes from financing cash flows BmEReRE L (15,796)
At 31 March 2019 R2019%F3A31H 4,002
25. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 25. MEMHERHE
As lessor ERHBEA

The Group subleases certain carparks under an operating
lease arrangement, with the lease negotiated for a term of
three years of which contingent rental may be charged
under certain conditions based on a percentage of gross
revenue.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under a non-cancellable operating lease
with its tenant falling due as follows:

AEERBELEHELHEEETRE
B AERBA=F EPxAEE
BEARIBARU AR B 70 EL IR T 6T URER

20193 A31H  AE BT HiH &
BHEETARKERSENZE DB
iy N

Within one year —FR 1,560 -
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EERF(REEEMST) 1,950 -
3,510 -
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

25. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(Continued)
As lessee
The Group leases certain of its office properties, retail
stores, warehouses, office equipment and carparks under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are

negotiated for terms ranging from one to four years, and
those for office equipment are for terms of five years.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum

lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

5. REBERHGE)

fEREBA

AEBRBECEHELHHEAES TH
NG TEE BE  HARMEREM
FES - MEZETHANF —Z@
FoMPARE P AERF -

MR2019%F3A31H » 7 & B 1~ A B8 &
BHETNRARFEBENZEE D EE
N

2019 2018
—EF-NF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Within one year —FR 53,356 38,872
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FEERF(BIEEREMT) 36,125 38,779
89,481 77,651
The operating leases of certain retail stores also called for ETEEEZEEHAEREREEIN 3
additional/contingent rentals, which would be based on a N2 WWHRESBHEE W Fﬁuﬂ'm

certain percentage of revenue/turnover of the operations
being undertaken therein pursuant to the terms and
conditions as stipulated in the respective tenancy
agreements. As the future revenue/turnover of these stores
could not be reliably determined at the end of each of the
financial years, the relevant contingent rentals have not
been included in the operating lease commitments
disclosure above. Certain of the lease arrangements
contain renewal options.

On 7 June 2017, the Group entered into a termination
agreement (the “Termination Agreement”) with a fellow
subsidiary to terminate a tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy
Agreement”) with the fellow subsidiary in respect of a retail
store of the Group with an original lease term from 1 April
2015 to 31 March 2018, with effect from 1 August 2017.
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions, arrangements and
balances detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

Fellow subsidiaries ERME AR

Project sales HAHE

Rentals e

Reimbursement of administrative 17 FI Sz 2 B 1F
expenses

Other related companies HAbBAR A

Project sales HEHE

Sponsor and financial advisory RERMBERE
fees

Underwriting fee (2kick-

Company secretarial fees NAMEE

26. BEEA RS
(a) BEITSHE H b5 et 2 %

5 REEREHIN REEBRFA
BB T BEATRS ¢

Notes

B

2019
—EF-NEF

HK$'000
TET

737 3,278
7,078 12,721
4,315 1,464
16 891
240 1,257
= 3,360

160 40

AY Trust or a director of the Company has beneficial
interest in the above other related companies.

Notes:

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The project sales were on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements.

The rentals charged were based on terms as agreed by
the relevant parties as set out in the respective tenancy
agreements.

The reimbursement of administrative expenses charged
by a fellow subsidiary was with reference to the costs
incurred by the fellow subsidiary.

The related company was appointed as one of the joint
sponsors for the Listing. The sponsor and financial
advisory fees were charged by the related company
based on terms as set out in the respective agreements.

During the IPO in 2018, a commission equal to 3% of the
aggregate offer price paid for the Offer Shares of the
Company was charged by a related company pursuant to
an underwriting agreement entered into with the related
company.

The company secretarial fees were charged by the
related company based on terms as set out in the
respective agreement.

AY Trustsl R AR —BEFHN Ll
BB ArRHEEES R

W

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(vi)

HREENERAERTIZHER
125 % P 90 FE 2 AR EET T

e DREN S HE 2 BIIRE
ATAE k2 R -

B B 2 RLRB 2 77 BB
2 R R N B D 7 E & 2 A
COE

BB AR EZER LT ZHFER
B - BAEE A R PTUCEN 2 (R 78 Ko Bt
BREEEZEHINEBHEZK
FRUSER -

R2018F B X AR B RIE
EARARE N RIRT S 2 B SN AR - A
NAFTRE ZRE AR ARGEZ
BERMENZBBEEB 3% -

REWEERBE QR REER
[CE R PA S
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26. BEEF RS ()

(Continued)

(b) The amount due from the immediate holding company (b) FFARRBIRBEE 2 RINE T
included in the Company’s current assets is unsecured, BRARIzFEREER 2 L&
interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. &l 7 B Z EARR o

(c) Operating lease arrangements (c) EMHELRH
At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum MR2019F3A31H AEBERE T
lease payments under non-cancellable operating R RMBERRIZER] 2 A HUEER &
leases of properties entered into with certain fellow HEETREKEHEENRBRRE 2
subsidiaries of the Group falling due as follows: FIEBRAT

2019 AON RS
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Within one year —FRN 8,922 2,341
In the second to fifth years, inclusive $ - EZFRFE(BIEERMRE) 10,410 3,780
19,332 6,121

The above future minimum lease payments are also Ft R RS EREN K RL L HE
included in note 25 to the financial statements. LB EAMBHREMEE25 ©

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the (d) REBFZEEBAEHH -

Group:
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET F& T
Fees 45 1,140 223
Short-term employee benefits EHEEERET 6,815 7,766
Post-employment benefits B AR A 179 183
6,994 7,949
Total compensation paid to key NTEEERABZFMNEE
management personnel 8,134 8,172
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EERFTETRAEME 2 HMEF
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial BRI S EMITES -
statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(e)

Pursuant to certain conditions of the Tenancy
Agreement for a retail store of the Group entered into
with a fellow subsidiary on 31 March 2015, upon the
natural expiry or early termination of the Tenancy
Agreement (for the whole or an applicable portion of
the leased property) under certain conditions, the
Group could hand over the property (or the applicable
portion) to the landlord, on “as-is basis” condition as at
the date of the handover without reinstatement provided
that the Group should pay an aggregate amount in lieu
of reinstatement of HK$2,000,000 upon expiry/
termination of the lease term of the Tenancy
Agreement.

As further detailed in note 25 to the financial
statements, the Group and the landlord agreed to
terminate the Tenancy Agreement with effect from 1
August 2017 and the Group settled the aggregate
amount in lieu of reinstatement of HK$2,000,000 with
the landlord upon termination of the lease term of the
Tenancy Agreement during the prior year.

Marketing and promotional expenses of HK$400,000
were charged by a fellow subsidiary based on terms as
agreed by the relevant parties for the year ended 31
March 2018.

27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 March 2019, contingent liabilities not provided for by
the Group in the financial statements were as follows:

26. BB AR S (&)

(e) BRIEMN2015F3A31HE —KE &
MEBARRIZEBAEEZTES
MeHERR2E TR BEH
H(EEME 2 SBEAE G )E
RE TG4 8 R E MR AT L
% NEERNBRBHRERKE
RYMEKBRID)EZEET ME
TEREE IIREASEARE
EpFcHERERRIEBIA
4 4£2,000,000/8 TERE -

AN BA 75 SRR B 525 — S EF il -
AEEREFREB2017F8H1H
BERIEHERGH AEBRBEF
EERHERZHRBRIEEBRREE
X 4 2,000,000 TR E1E
R AN o

(fy E ZE£2018F3A3IHILFE  —@E
B Z M B R RIREAE S T 2 &
R HUER & 85 K itk BE B F3400,00078
TTe

27. AREE

MR2019F3A31H  KEB W R R
MRIELBEZSRABBHOT ¢

2019 2018
—EF-NF —E-NEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

In connection with a bank guarantee given

FER FET

BRAR—BETIELZRITHE

to a landlord in lieu of rental deposit R-UARBETHERERTE
required under certain tenancy agreement ZfH&%RE 2,535 2,535
In connection with a bank guarantee given BRI —ZBEEEL ZRITHE
to a customer in lieu of surety bond R-UARBETEEHEHE
required under certain project HIE 2 BHRE
sales agreement 171 -
2,706 2,535
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Year ended 31 March 2019 #Z£2019F3A31H L FE

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Financial assets

28. &z IT A
SRR T ANRE IR Y BEEELD
—|? :

TREE

Financial assets

at amortised Loans and
cost receivables
R 88 A AR
TRz SR BERK
BE FE U FRIE
2019 AON RS
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FTiERT
Trade receivables B S W RIE 9,404 6,263
Financial assets included in prepayments, # AFBRNFUIAE 174 R H I
deposits and other receivables REAZ CBEE 21,082 19,840
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 59,469 83,385
89,955 109,488

Financial liabilities

cHas
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

BRBHERATTEZEREAE

2019 2018

—E-NF —ZE-N\F

HK$'000 HK$’000

FET F& T

Trade and bills payables B 5 EMRIE R BN ER 7,290 7,076
Financial liabilities included in other STAHMEMNRIAKRETERA

payables and accruals ZE@MmAasE 14,976 8,053

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHEIRITER 4,002 19,798

26,268 34,927
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

29.

30.

FAIRVALUE AND FAIRVALUE HIERARCHY

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities reasonably
approximated to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
trade and bills payables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank
borrowings reasonably approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities/no fixed
terms of repayment of these instruments or because the
effect of discounting is not material.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and cash
equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade and
bills payables and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

29. AR ERAFEEBHK

30

TREENBEZAFERIARERM
EH2RzRBRH(REIEFEL
SRRz ERBARK -

RBERR AEEZeREERESR
BEZEAESEMEE N FERS -

EEEDELFG URERE LA
FEY B HEWFR G ATARN R
ReMEMEEREAZcREE &
SN RBRENER TARMERN
RENMEFERAAZEREBEUARETR
RITERZ A FEDERSZ ZREAES
BRE TERARZSFIAYERH
HE EEEER R MERITE

MEREEEERBE

AEEZTESRT AR RRITE
ARBReRREFEY HFEMTH
ZEIBEHER/AREZREERBES
B2 AKEBEBEZHEMEREER
BB WE SRR AR A
ReHEBEEREAZcRMEE &
ZRMNFARENREARG AR E
NRELEFEAAZERAE B
RHEREEERD-

AEEEMTAEL 2 T2EM BN
R SNERR FEERARMEADESR
R -EFgRditZEERERAH
Rz R - A R R BBt o
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193A31H L F &

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. M EMEREBERBK(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Interest rate risk F = = b
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market AEEEEFEEREEREHA R
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's interest- Bt BIRITIERERB 2SR REE)
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates. The Z BB NEEFE BT BRI X
Group mitigates the risk by monitoring closely the BEPREZER
movements in interest rates regularly.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRERNEMBEMEBERFIE 2B
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other AT AEERBEIDEN,(EBB)(ER
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) before HYBRITER T E)EFEA g
tax (through the impact on floating rate interest-bearing WZEERE 2 HRAE -

bank borrowings).

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in basis in profit/(loss)
points before tax
RR%E AT
22 EF(ER)
i“JJD/(/DE’J‘ 0,/ G
HK$'000
THET
Year ended 31 March 2019 BIE201953A31HLEFE
US$ ET 50 2
(50) (2)
EUR BT 50 18
(50) (18)
Year ended 31 March 2018 BI£20185F3A31BLEE
Uss$ ETT 50 (2)
(50) 2
EUR BT 50 (67)
(50) 67
HKS$ BT 50 (30)
(50) 30
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. MK AMEEREERBK(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk SMEE = B
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such AEEEAZRSHEERAR - ZZRK

exposures primarily arise from purchases by the Group’s
operating units and certain monetary liabilities of the Group
denominated in EUR and US$, being currencies other than
the units’ functional currencies. For the year ended 31
March 2019, certain interest-bearing bank borrowings and
purchases of the Group were denominated in EUR, which is
different from the functional currencies of the respective
operating units. The directors of the Company do not
expect any significant movements in the US$/HK$
exchange rate as the HK$ is pegged to the US$ within a
narrow band.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the EUR exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

2019 20194
If HK$ weakens against EUR fisi 75 7T A BT B2 (B
If HK$ strengthens against EUR W’ T BT FHE
2018 20184
If HK$ weakens against EUR fis 7T A BT (B
If HK$ strengthens against EUR WS T BT AHE

FTERBAEELEEMIEN 2 HKER
AEBUBTEETHECETEELS
BE(RZEBEMNEEEB I G-
RELZ2019F3A31B ILFE A& E
EEIT 2B TRIBRITE R R T AR
TLETE A ESEM 2 e EKE
Ble RARIEEBHETLHL B LEXE
TEEEMEXNES BABTHET
B Rel M eEsE AN LEE -

TRETNBEHREABEBEER
RAEZIERT - N6 B ER AT A 3
BX T IE X A § ﬁiﬁz/\ﬁﬁiﬂ( HE#
BENBBZAVERES) ZGURE-

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
EUR exchange in profit/(loss)

rate before tax

BRESATER,
(E518)%8m,~

S ORA) OR2)
% HK$’'000
FHET

T T B 2= 48 A0

5 483
)] (483)
5 (983)
(5) 983
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. I ERMEEEERBEK(E

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Cont/nued)
Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms primarily with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s general
policy that customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and
the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 March
2019

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2019. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

12-month
ECLs
1218 B 78 58
FEEFR

FERR
AEEEEERVTAGEERIZE=F
ETEEEE - AKEZBRS B
BERENTEEEEZEFPHARBEE
REIEF o WO USRI & 88 T IR 5
BRREZEETER MASEEEZ
ERRAER K o

H2019F3 5318 49 & A & B2 & F K B&
B

TR#HIFP2019F3A31HRIBEAEE
EEBRRNEEERNMARINRANE
ERB(FRIFEFMNEIBERAHS
HmAESELER  TRIZEERE
MEER) MFEREBEDE 2SR
REMEEMNEREE-

Lifetime ECLs

FHABEEER

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2
F-KE HFoER SRR &A%
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TEx FEx TEr TR

Stage 3  approach

126

Trade receivables* B 5 U I8 -
Financial assets included in st ATBRRIE & Kk
prepayments, deposits and  E b EU IR
other receivables CREE

- Normal** -E&E 21,082
Cash and cash equivalents & RFEEEEY
— Not yet past due — e AR 80 ER 59,469

- - 9,404 9,404

- - - 21,082

- - - 59,469

80,551

- - 9,404 89,955

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure as at 31 March 2018

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, and cash and cash
equivalents, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 15 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain adequate funds to
meet commitments associated with its financial liabilities.
Cash flows of the Group are closely monitored by senior
management on an on-going basis, considering the maturity
of the Group’s financial liabilities and financial assets, and
projected cash flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

30. i EMEERERBE(E)

FERR(E)

R20185F3A31 A Y8R K /B B2 K2 F KB ER
AEBEMEREE(BETAEBENK
e hEMRBRRFERZEHEE
AEReFREFEY) 2 EERRK
BHFHELN RARRBHEERNZS
TRZEmE-

EEAEERE S mKRES B
B2 E b B BN BB WA M 15
9T -

nREBEEERE

AEEEERTBARIE S M EEE
CRHABABZAE AEESRER
BERARBcRABREMEE T
HBAMEEXHBARERE 1R

- 425 g A S R L] BE T TR A s 2
FEGEREBY RS RE -

AEBRBEHMRZEMBEENDET
AR R K2 BIHIFTRAT -

As at 31 March 2019
R2019%3A831H
No fixed terms

of repayment/ Less than
on demand one year
BETE
¢34 )
REREE DPR-F st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET
Trade and bills payables BHRARERERER - 7,290 7,290
Financial liabilities included in other payables FT AEMENZEREAERAZ
and accruals CHAaR 6,934 8,042 14,976
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T BRITER 4,002 - 4,002
10,936 15,332 26,268
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

30. ISR EIE B £

ERBKR(E)

REE SRR (E)

As at 31 March 2018
MA2018%3H31H

No fixed terms

of repayment/ Less than
on demand one year
BEE
REREE DR—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THERT THET
Trade and bills payables ZORNFTENENRE - 7,076 7,076
Financial liabilities included in other payables FtAEfMEMFIEREFERAZ
and accruals TRARE 1,626 6,427 8,053
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERITER 19,798 - 19,798
21,424 13,503 34,927

As at 31 March 2019, the above interest-bearing bank
borrowings with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$4,002,000 (2018: HK$19,798,000)
contain a repayment on demand clause giving the relevant
banks the unconditional right to call in the borrowings at
any time and, therefore, for the purpose of the above
maturity profile, the total amount is classified as “on
demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors of the
Company do not believe that the borrowings will be called
in in their entirety at any time before their maturity and they
consider that the borrowings will be repaid in accordance
with the maturity dates as set out in the corresponding
banking facility letters and bank correspondences. This
evaluation was made after considering: the financial
position of the Group at the date of approval of these
financial statements; the lack of events of default, and the
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. AR B A ERBER(Z)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

In accordance with the terms of the bank borrowings which
contain a repayment on demand clause, the maturity profile
of the bank borrowings as at 31 March 2019 and 2018,
based on the contractual undiscounted payments and
ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause, is
as follows:

REESER(E
BIESHEREREZERZRITERIE
T A20194F 20183 A31H 2 8R17
EREREBTHARTBARETE EIR
BREEEARZEZEZHHPBEROT :

No fixed terms

of repayment/ Less than
on demand one year
EEE
EXRE/
BERER PR-F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TiERL TiERT
As at 31 March 2019 201963 A31H - 4,082 4,082
As at 31 March 2018 #2018 3A31H - 19,868 19,868

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

EXEE

AEEEAER T BZABERBRAE
BAERNESRIHBERETAECE I
BIFFBREZEAL T UAXFHHEB K

EERERREE

AEBERBEERAZ B RBBEE
ZERBHERERARBLIELHAE-
RERABEARRE  AEEA A
ERNFHRRZEE  REEARTRR
SEITHAAD - MEVE2019%F 220184
BABIHLLFER AKEEREANLZHE
B BERSEFTELIREE -
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31.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

31. AR 2R R

RBERREERARRFBRRKRZE

130

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BT -

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RTB AR ZIEE 6,065 6,065
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables H fh UL 3R I8 132 -
Due from subsidiaries JE Y P BB 2 B 3R IE 51,123 101,274
Due from the immediate holding company  JEW B # =MD B FUIE 3 3
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 50,652 4
Total current assets REBEEHLE 101,910 101,281
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hib B FIE R ERHE A 735 -
Due to a subsidiary FEHI B R RFIA - 55
Total current liabilities REBEEAE 735 55
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 101,175 101,226
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERABDERS
LIABILITIES 107,240 107,291
Net assets BEEZFE 107,240 107,291
EQUITY R
Share capital AR 110,337 110,337
Accumulated losses (note) ZEEB (M) (3,097) (3,046)
Total equity DA 107,240 107,291

Wong Chi Fai Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
BEEE KRB
Director Director
= B=
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H5 S R Bl =L

Year ended 31 March 2019 & ZE20193 A31H L F &

31.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note:

A summary of the movements in the Company’s retained profits/

(accumulated losses) is as follows:

At 1 April 2017

Profit and total comprehensive income

3I. XA B 2 MR KR (E)

fi i -

KRB ZREBRF,(REHER)EBEHR M
™

Retained profits/
(accumulated losses)

RERR,

(RETEE)

HK$'000

FET

201764711 65

FREM N 2EKEEER

for the year 68,889
Interim 2018 dividend 2018F FH HAR B (72,000)
At 31 March 2018 and at 1 April 2018 201843318 k20184 A1H (3,046)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FREEN 2 EEIBLAE (51)
At 31 March 2019 201943 A31H (8,097)

32. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 27 June 2019.

32. #tEM B K

B BMARCON2019F6 A27THEE =2
HEfE B AR HE T3 o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities T~ & # 71 /& & & 7 & £20154 + 20164
of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2015, 2016, 2017, 20174 - 2018F &2019F3A31HIFFEZ
2018 and 2019: ¥E BENEE:

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group AEBE E2015%F « 20165 & 201743 A31
for the years ended 31 March 2015, 2016 and 2017 were HIFFEZ¥E EEMBEHERHEAAK
extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated 16 2R BHIA2018F1H16B 2 HBKERR -
January 2018.

For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A3MALEE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx THET TExT FExT BT
Results ¥E&
Revenue WA 181,347 210,070 224,331 258,553 242,959
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI ATEF(EBE) 28,148 27,004 35,572 12,546 (4,621)
Income tax Frigfise, (%)
credit/(expense) (4,860) (4,651) (5,427) (4,069) 643
Profit/(loss) attributable to [SYNGIE 2PN
owners of the parent wAl(EE) 23,288 22,353 30,145 8,477 (3,978)

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T FET FET

Assets and liabilities BEKERE
Total assets BEE 68,306 82,638 111,378 176,442 174,535
Total liabilities BEE (41,053) (37,884) (36,479) (60,794) (62,865)
Net assets BESE 27,253 44,754 74,899 115,648 111,670

Equity attributable to owners BABHEA AEH#ER
of the parent 27,253 44,754 74,899 115,648 111,670
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